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MAJID AL FUTTAIM PROPERTIES 2022 FULL YEAR REPORT

Majid Al Futtaim Properties is a leading shopping mall, hospitality and
communities developer and operator in the Middle East since 1994.
Majid Al Futtaim Properties LLC was incorporated in the Emirate of Dubai, United Arab Emirates in 1994 and is a
subsidiary of Majid Al Futtaim Holding LLC. The Group has the following business units and segments in place for the year
ended 31 December 2022:

SHOPPING MALLS HOSPITALITY COMMUNITIES PROJECT MANAGEMENT

Owns, develops and operates
29 destination shopping malls
across 5 countries: UAE,
Oman, Lebanon, Egypt,
Bahrain

Total shopping malls GLA of
over 1.8 million m2

Owns 13 hotels in the UAE and
Bahrain that are operated by
International Hotel Brands

Offers over 3,600 rooms and
suites

Operates Enova - a facility and
energy management associate
company with Veolia

Develops and operates 5
mixed-used projects in the
UAE, Oman and Lebanon

Combined land area of
~11.8Mm2

Supports the delivery of
Group’s project developments

In February 2023, the Group has evolved into 2 major business units (‘BU’): Asset Management BU: comprising of
Shopping Malls and Hospitality businesses, and Development BU: comprising of Communities and Shopping Malls
Development businesses. These BUs are supported by the Centre of Excellence (‘CoE’) offices, mainly comprising of
Project Management CoE and Investment Management CoE.

Key financial highlights:

2022 key financial highlights:
MAFP Group had a record year in terms of revenue at AED 6.2 billion and EBITDA at AED 3.0 billion,
mainly driven by strong sales & construction performance in the communities’ business, improvement
in shopping malls footfall & retail sales and an outstanding year for the hotels business due to strong
demand driven by improved travel and tourism coupled with EXPO 2020 and FIFA World Cup.
MAFP had a strong net profit performance at AED 3.1 billion, up by AED 278 million vs 2021
and property valuations ended at a net positive (AED 1.2 billion in FV gain) mainly driven by positive
outlook in the shopping malls occupancy, long term lease renewals and improving retail market in the
UAE and valuation uplift on land bank.
Cash flows from operating activities returned to a healthy level at AED 2.2 billion
(2021: AED 2.6 billion) due to strong financial performance from operations and continued focus on
driving down the backlogged receivables, partially offset by TAG working capital due to significant
construction progress resulting in increased unbilled receivables and higher restricted cash collections
(under escrow) from the recent project launches.

* EBITDA is a non-GAAP measure. For further information about this measure, refer to note 10 to the consolidated financial statements.
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Directors’ report
The Directors’ report and the audited consolidated financial
statements of Majid Al Futtaim Properties LLC (‘MAFP’ or ‘the
Company’) and its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as ‘the Group’)
are presented for the year ended 31 December 2022. The consolidated
financial statements were prepared by management. The Board of
Directors has taken responsibility for the fair presentation of the
consolidated financial statements in accordance with the applicable
financial reporting framework and has given clearance for the issuance
of these consolidated financial statements on ________________.
Economic Background
Macroeconomic headwinds continue to impactmajor economies in the
world to varying extents, including the countries where the Group
operates in. Political and economic instabilities, including the conflict in
Ukraine, rising inflation and interest rates, supply chain disruptions,
and currency devaluation in certain countries pose a risk on the overall
recovery to pre-pandemic level.

In 2022, the GCC countries witnessed strong signs of recovery after
COVID-19 concerns subsided and restrictions have been dropped.
Travel and tourism in the UAE showed significant improvement fuelled
by the success of EXPO 2020, which attracted more than 24 million
visitors until its closing in March 2022, and during the FIFA World Cup
2022. Furthermore, major oil and gas producers in the Middle East
benefitted from the strong global demand and high prices for energy
exports resulting in increase in real GDP growth* in the UAE and KSA at
7.3% and 8.9% in 2022, respectively. This allowed the GCC countries to
partially contain the impact of rising inflation and help drive business
activity in non-energy sectors. These positively impacted the Group’s
overall business operations (refer to ‘Management’s Discussion and
Analysis’). In March 2022, the Central Bank of Egypt allowed the
Egyptian Pound (‘EGP’) to float and it lost about 37% of its value against
the United Arab Emirates Dirhams (‘AED’) as at 31 December 2022 and
continued to devalue subsequent to year end. The IMF approved the
Extended Fund Facility for Egypt to preserve the macroeconomic
stability. Lebanon continued to face severe economic difficulties and
the recovery is expected to be slow due to political instability and
depleted consumer confidence.

Business Strategy
Majid Al Futtaim Properties Group’s long-term strategic direction (‘10x
Strategy’) aims to shape people’s experiences and lives and become the
MENA leader in the development and management of integrated,
sustainable and customer-centric destinations and communities. This
ambition is anchored by four key strategic priorities, as follows:

Revamp and reinvent our malls physically, digitally and
commercially. Develop a network of the best malls in the best cities
across MENA.
Scale-up the Communities business and replenish our land bank,
creating a new flagship business for the Group financially,
experientially and reputationally.
Expand footprint in the KSA market through the North Riyadh
Development.
Strengthen our capabilities in Project Management, Design,
Proptech and Investment Management to deliver on all three
priorities in a capital light and Intellectual Property (IP) heavy
manner.

Management’s Discussion and Analysis
The following discussion should be read in conjunction with the
consolidated financial statements and accompanying notes. This
section of Directors’ report generally discusses year-to-year
comparisons between 2022 and 2021 financial performance. All
amounts are presented in AED millions.

In 2022, MAFP Group had a record year across our major businesses
with revenue at AED 6.2 billion (up by AED +1.8 billion, +41% vs 2021)
and EBITDA** at AED 3.0 billion (up by AED +408million, 16% vs 2021),
which is at the highest since inception. The valuation for the Group’s
asset portfolio resulted in an overall fair value gain of AED 1.2 billion,
which significantly increased the Group’s net profit at AED 3.1 billion
during the year.

Segment results

Revenue performance
2022 2021 Change

Shopping malls 3,658 3,392 266
Communities 1,848 531 1,317
Hotels 671 453 218
Project management 20 30 (10)
Total 6,197 4,406 1,791

Shopping malls***
The Shopping Malls business welcomed c. 212 million visitors during
the year and witnessed rebound in footfall at +10% vs 2021. Shopping
malls tenant sales (excl. Carrefour) showed continued improvement at
+8% vs 2021, with Mall of the Emirates (the Group’s flagship retail
destination) having its best year in terms of footfall and tenant sales
since opening. Shopping malls revenue grew by AED 266 million driven
by higher turnover rents, improvement of rentals in lease deals, and
first full year of operations for two shopping malls. The Group’s
revenue is partially offset by the decline in revenue from Egypt
shopping malls due to EGP devaluation during the year.

Communities
The new villa launches in Tilal Al Ghaf (‘TAG’) project were well received
by the market and the Group sold property units during the year with
gross sales value of AED 4.4 billion. TAG recognized revenue during the
year amounting to AED 1.8 billion, up by AED 1.3 billion vs 2021, in line
with the ramp-up of construction progress. The handover for these
properties will commence from 2023.

Hotels
The Hotels business had a record-breaking financial performance
driven by strong demand in UAE and Bahrainmarkets, coupled with the
boost from EXPO 2020 and FIFAWorld Cup, resulting in a 50% increase
in RevPar (revenue per available room) and a 23% increase in
occupancy rate as compared to 2021.

Project management
Project management continue to progress with the on-going
construction in TAG and ended the year with the successful delivery of
Snow Oman, the largest indoor snow park in the MENA region.

Net profit & EBITDA performance
Net profit 2022 2021 Change
Shopping malls 2,951 3,058 (107)
Communities 508 20 488
Hotels 62 33 29
Others (395) (263) (132)
Total 3,126 2,848 278
EBITDA 2022 2021 Change
Shopping malls 2,584 2,495 89
Communities 329 75 254
Hotels 220 122 98
Others (122) (89) (33)
Total 3,011 2,603 408

Shopping malls
Net profit from the Shopping malls business remained strong, however,
declined by AED 107 million from 2021 driven by the effect of foreign
currency loss due to translation of a USD denominated loan held by a
subsidiary in Egypt. Net profit remained higher than EBITDA as net
valuation gain is excluded from the EBITDA calculation. The EBITDA
improvement from 2021 reflects largely the increase in revenue.

Communities
Net profit from the Communities business increased due to positive
construction progress in TAG resulting in an increase in revenue based
on the percentage of construction completion, partially offset by TAG
operating expenses mainly from the cost of property sales. The EBITDA
increase reflects the strong performance of development progress
during the year. The stage of construction completion achieved is
assessed by an independent external surveyors in each reporting
period.

* Source: Economist Intelligence Unit 2022 report;
** EBITDA is a non-GAAP measure,

refer to Note 10 to the consolidated financial statements.
*** Non-financial information comparatives are on a like-for-like basis.
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Hotels
Net profit from Hotels business improved from 2021 due to strong
performance and reduced impact from the COVID-19 pandemic. At the
start of the year, EXPO 2020 supported the demand followed by an
additional upside from FIFA World Cup in the last quarter of the year.
Net profit is lower than EBITDA mainly due to depreciation charge.
EBITDA improvement from 2021 largely reflected the increased
occupancy and room rate.

Other components of Profit or Loss
2022 2021 Change

Operating expenses (3,490) (2,126) (1,364)
Finance costs (442) (376) (66)
Impairment loss (30) (158) 128
Share of results of equity
accounted investee

55 91 (36)

Other (expense) / income (290) 54 (344)
Valuation gains 1,202 1,039 163
Income tax expense (87) (88) 1

Operating expense (OPEX)
OPEX increased by AED 1,364 million from 2021 mainly due to TAG
operating expenses (up by AED 1 billion) reflecting the continued
growth in operations and construction progress, increase in staff cost
and benefits and the first full year of operations for two shopping malls
that opened in 2021.

Finance costs
Finance costs increased due to completion of two shopping mall
projects in 2021 resulting in no borrowing costs capitalization during
the year.

Impairment loss
Overall impairment losses have reduced as compared to 2021 primarily
as a result of improved outlook on current project under development
and better trading environment resulting in improved recoverability of
receivable balances during the year.

Share of profit from equity investees
The share of profit from equity investees decreased from prior year due
to a reduction in profit driven by valuation loss of mall assets owned by
a joint venture entity, partially offset by an increase in profit from the
other equity investees.

Other expense
Other expense primarily reflects foreign exchange loss from translation
of a USD denominated loan held by a subsidiary in Egypt. In 2021, other
income relates to a one-off sale of land.

Valuation gains
The net valuation gain in the current year mainly attributed to
improved performance and outlook for the shopping malls, especially,
for Mall of Emirates, Mirdif City Centre and the continued growth in
tenant occupancy atMall of Oman and City Centre Al Zahia. Despite the
rising inflation and currency devaluation in Egypt, our malls in Egypt
showed improvement in sales performance and recorded a fair value
gain, offset on the balance sheet by the impact of EGP devaluation.
Further, valuation gain was recorded for lands held in Lebanon.

Income tax expense
Tax charge remained flat at AED 87 million, which mainly reflects the
current tax expense from Oman operations and additional deferred tax
charges related to Egypt assets valuation gain. A new tax law was
enacted in UAE in December 2022 and the Group is currently in the
process of assessing the possible impact on its consolidated financial
statements, both from current and deferred tax perspective, once the
Law becomes substantively enacted.

Statement of Financial Position
2022 2021 Change

Fixed assets 42,573 41,055 1,518
Other long term assets 2,116 1,874 242
Inventories 2,264 624 1,640
Trade and other receivables 1,463 1,007 456
Restricted cash 2,514 1,341 1,173
Other short term assets 572 498 74
Total Assets 51,502 46,399 5,103
Loans and borrowings 12,736 11,101 1,635
Other long term liabilities 653 709 (56)
Trade and other payables 4,923 4,168 755
Other short term liabilities 442 539 (97)
Total Liabilities 18,754 16,517 2,237
Net Assets 32,748 29,882 2,866

Fixed assets
Fixed asset increased due to net valuation gain, capital additions from
existing shopping malls and hotels, increase in development cost in
North Riyadh project and positive translation impact from Lebanon
assets. The carrying values of fixed assets were partially offset by the
impact of EGP devaluation and depreciation. A plot of land has been
transferred from investment property to development property as it
has been earmarked for development. The fixed assets are valued by
independent external valuers who are RICS qualified and have
extensive experience in the markets in which the Group operates in.

Other long term assets
Other long term assets mainly include long term receivables and
investment in equity accounted investees. Increase during the year is
due to a growth in long term receivable and increased advances to
contractors for the TAG project.

Inventories
The increase in inventories mainly reflects the TAG project
development additions (net of cost charged to Profit or Loss), transfer
of the remaining significant undeveloped portion of TAG land from the
Ultimate Parent Company, and transfer of a plot of land that has been
earmarked for development.

Trade and other receivables
The increase is mainly due to TAG unbilled receivables and increase in
contractor advances for TAG project construction, partially offset by
decrease in trade receivables from shopping malls due to improved
collections and decrease in accrued income on operating leases.

The recoverability of trade receivables is assessed in line with IFRS and
an expected credit loss model is used to determine impairment loss
provision together with specific provision for tenants with high credit
risk. The provisioning models are reviewed on a quarterly basis.

Restricted cash
Restricted cash relates to collections (under escrow) from the TAG
project launches. The release of restricted cash is expected to
accelerate upon project handovers starting from 2023.

Loans and Borrowings
We use debt financing to lower our overall cost of capital and increase
our return to shareholders. Our borrowings are sourced out externally
(e.g. sukuks and bank loans) as well as internally from the Parent
Company. Increase in loans and borrowings from prior year is mainly
from additional loan from the Parent Company attributable to transfer
of TAG land during the year.

Trade and other payables
The net increase largely reflects increase in advances and deposits from
TAG customers.
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Funding and Liquidity
Post the COVID-19 pandemic, the Group continues to monitor and
respond to all funding and liquidity requirements. To secure the
Group’s financial health, duty of care, brand equity and business
performance, management continues to proactively monitor multiple
streams of actions across the business and regions, including health and
safety, business continuity, brand protection and financial mitigation
plan. In 2022, the financial mitigation plan primarily focuses on
preserving and generating cash and aims to:

conduct on-going scenario-based risk analyses to anticipate the
potential impacts on main areas: revenue, working capital and
asset values;
develop with a roadmap to mitigate the impacts through action
plans for revenue, operating expenses, working capital,
dividends, and capital expenditures/ investments. Such action
plans are regularly updated according to the changing
circumstances and anticipated impacts;
establish a mechanism to monitor the execution of the defined
action plans and ensure progression as planned;
review of long-term viability of the business, which includes stress
testing of the outlook against principal risks.

At 31 December 2022, the Group has net current assets of AED 1.4
billion, which includes loans and borrowingsmaturing in the short-term
of AED 94 million. Further, at 31 December 2022, debt maturing in the
long term amounts to AED 12.6 billion, wherein the earliest repayment
of a major loan falls in 2024 pertaining to term loan from the Parent
Company amounting to AED 5.6 billion, which is subject to refinance.
To meet its commitments, the Group has access to sufficient undrawn
committed facilities from the Parent Company and banks amounting to
AED 3.4 billion as at the reporting period. The Group’s assessment of
funding and liquidity shows sufficient liquidity for the foreseeable
future through its cash and available committed lines.

Off-balance sheet arrangements
Off-balance sheet arrangements include capital commitments of
AED 2.7 billion and contingent liabilities of AED 13.2 billion. Capital
commitments refers to the value of contracts signed for the
development and construction of assets mainly related to TAG project,
net of costs incurred and advances made up to that date. Contingent
liabilities mainly include corporate guarantees amounting to AED 12.3
billion provided by the Group on behalf of the Parent Company and its
subsidiaries.

Risk Management & Viability Statement
TomaintainMAFP’s resilience and agility in the face of global economic
and political instability, including the increased inflation, increasing
interest rates, and currency devaluation in countries of operation such
as Egypt & Lebanon, management has continued to enhance and
operationalize the risk management framework. This includes
integrating risks management into key processes such as strategic
planning, budgeting and financial planning, investment appraisals, and
management reporting. MAFP measures its risk management maturity
through a model created to evaluate five risk domains: Framework,
Skills & Resources, Tools & Systems, Culture & Governance, and
Integration. The model utilizes a maturity scale that consists of five
maturity levels: Ad-Hoc, Initial, Coordinated, Systematic and Leading.
By seeing increased adoption of risk indicator monitoring, scenario-
based risk mitigation strategies, and the use of advanced risk analysis
tools, MAFP has evolved its risk maturity from an initial/coordinated
stage to a coordinated/systematic stage. This year, management has
relied on scenario-based risk outlooks tomanage and navigate through
key principal uncertainties, including inflation, competition, interest
rates, political instability, and global supply chain disruption. These
assumptions are being updated on a bi-annual basis. These measures
helped us improve our ability to effectively identify and assess risks at
a granular level and to implement effective risk management strategies
to mitigate those risks. In the coming year, MAFP is committed to
scaling this capability to the operational side of the business, in order
to further enhance its resilience and agility in the face of a constantly
evolving risk landscape.

The full impact of economic uncertainty remains difficult to predict,
with various factors contributing to the evolving nature of the risk
landscape. This includes the potential for fluctuations in interest rates,
changes in consumer behavior andmarket trends, and the potential for
supply chain disruptions. MAFP continues to view these uncertainties
through a scenario-based lens, taking into account base case scenarios
as well as various alternative scenarios, all of which have been factored
into the financial planning and budgeting process for the year ahead.
Viability statement
Annually, we review the longer-term viability of the business, including
stress testing the outlook against principal risks. This analysis provides
reasonable assurance of the resilience of our operations and our ability
tomeet liabilities as they fall due based on our severe but plausible risk
scenarios for the next 3 years. This has been demonstrated by the
Group’s flexibility and agility in responding to the extreme
circumstances caused by the aforementioned key risks.
Despite the economic challenges that range from higher inflation to
further currency devaluation and limited foreign currency reserves, and
continued political instability worldwide, financial impacts have been
continually monitored and mitigated through rigorous management of
costs and liquidity, prudent CAPEX and development properties
disbursements, operational excellence as well as continued support to
our retail partners to revitalize our business ecosystem.
Whilst the Group’s diversification, financial strengths and disciplined
liquidity management have served the stakeholders well, we will
continue to focus on cost efficiency, operational excellence and careful
assessment of priorities, and emerging threats.
Critical accounting policies and use of estimates
A summary of the critical accounting policies and use of estimates is
included in Note 4 to the Consolidated Financial Statements.
2023 Business Events

In January 2023, Ahmed Galal Ismail was appointed as Chief
Executive Officer of the Majid Al Futtaim Holding Group. He was
succeeded by Ahmed Elshamy (formerMAFP Chief Financial Officer)
as Chief Executive Officer of the Majid Al Futtaim Properties Group.
The leadership in their new roles will continue to build on our
strong, customer-focused strategy that has allowed us to deliver
sustained and measurable growth. We remain committed to our
prudent financial discipline and strong governance to continue to be
well-positioned and focused on sustainable value creation and
creating great moments for everyone, everyday.
In February 2023, the Group has evolved its business structure into
2 major business units (‘BU’): Asset Management BU: comprising of
Shopping Malls and Hospitality businesses, and Development BU:
comprising of Communities and Shopping Malls Development
businesses. These BUs are supported by the Centre of Excellence
(‘CoE’) offices, mainly comprising of Project Management CoE and
Investment Management CoE.
Majid Al Futtaim Group in conjunction with the UAE authorities will
continue to work toward its commitment of recruiting 3,000
Emiratis across its operations over the next five years.
The UAE issued the Federal Decree-Law (47) of 2022 on the Taxation
of Corporations and Businesses effective for financial years starting
on or after 1 June 2023. Management is currently assessing the
impact of the Corporate Tax Law on the business and succeeding
consolidated financial statements.

Outlook
The world economy is recovering from the pandemic, however, it is
facing numerous headwinds and the outlook remain exceptionally
uncertain. High inflation has forced central banks to tighten their
monetary policies and governments are stretching their budgets to
absorb the impact of rising commodity and energy prices. A slowdown
in global economic growth is forecasted, however, the GCC market is
expected to adapt swiftly compared to previous downturns. In the GCC
Region, recovery is much stronger mainly due to efficient pandemic
management and the limited impact of inflation. Government policies
have been timely and effective to attract global investments and
tourism. The non-oil sector in the UAE is forecasted to expand by 3.9%*
in 2023 and is expected to contribute in maintaining positive
momentum to the real estate market.

* Source: ICAEW (Q4 2022) Economic Update for Middle East
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The standout performance of the residential sector in the UAE reflects
its relative safe-haven status against the background of prevailing
geopolitical and economic challenges in the world. Strong residential
activity can also be partly attributed to prices continuing to look
attractive in comparison to other major cities around the globe. The
residential sector is expected to sustain growth and stabilize on pricing
during 2023. The UAE Government’s policy towards issuance of long-
term residency visas are among the key factors in driving foreign
investments.

Majid Al Futtaim Properties Group is strategically positioned to benefit
from the recovering market fundamentals. Our timely expansion in
residential sector and extensive presence in hospitality and retail
sectors are contributing well in sustaining our growth plans. Our
priority is and will remain to grow our diverse portfolio of assets, add
shareholder value and invest in our people. The Group’s business
performance outlook entails the following:

The rebound in tourism is expected to bolster demand in our
Shopping malls and Hotels businesses. The number of visitors to the
UAE is likely to return to pre-pandemic levels by the end of 2023*
primarily driven by the easing of travel restrictions in key markets,
especially in China, and sustaining the demand subsequent to Expo
2020 and World Cup in 2022. The improvement in footfall in our
shopping malls reflects sustained demand for retail spaces despite
gradual rise of online shopping. Shopping mall rentals, after
trending down in recent years, are expected to stabilize and
improve marginally in the coming years. Demand for digital
experiences and omni-channel retailing is anticipated to remain a
trend in the years to come.
The Communities business is set to handover more than 1,100 units
from the TAG project in 2023 delivering on our promise to
customers. The Group will launch new phases and products in TAG
as well as explore other opportunities to expand our offering to
customers in Dubai and other markets. The handovers are expected
to accelerate the release of restricted cash and fund our future
developments.
Various redevelopments are planned in our existing malls including
upgrades, enhanced offerings to customers along with exploring
partnership with new international brands.
Enhance growth opportunities in KSA retail, hospitality and
residential sectors through the North Riyadh Development project.
Transition to a more capital light businessmodel and recycle capital.

Sustainability
Majid Al Futtaim’s investments in sustainable experiences and
initiatives continued to grow in 2022. The Group’s sustainability
strategy, Dare Today, Change Tomorrow, brings together all Majid Al
Futtaim’s businesses under one overarching sustainability vision.

Strategy: For the ninth consecutive year, Majid Al Futtaim, has
attained the ‘Green Star’ status from the Global Real Estate
Sustainability Benchmark, for implementing outstanding
sustainability practices. For the first time, we achieved a full score
for integrating Environmental, Social and Governance best practices
intomanagement processes including leadership, riskmanagement,
reporting and stakeholder engagement.
Awards and Recognition:Wereceived the BREEAMAward for TAG’s
Sales and Experience Center under the Regional category, which is
the first Net Positive building in the Region; followed later by the
site office. The Group’s flagship, Mall of the Emirates, along with 2
other malls achieved LEED platinum certification, and City Centre Al
Zahia achieved LEED gold certification. We are on track to certify all
our Malls with a minimum of LEED ‘Gold’ (or equivalent) by 2026.
Moreover, we hold the world’s first LEED Platinum certification for
all of our hotels. Our office buildings in Dubai achieved the WELL
Health Safety Seal for its commitment to health and safety. We
received various awards and recognition for our Sustainability-
Linked Loan.
Rethinking Resources:Wehave invested in offsetting the embodied
carbon emissions with high quality carbon credit in a vera certified
project of Properties assets, estimated 142,050,139 TCO2e over the
60-year asset's lifespan.
Empowering our people: Front-liner Sustainability Training was
rolled out across the MAF Group. Wellness engagements that
encompass physical, mental and financial wellness were also
conducted.
Transforming Lives: Shopping Malls Business Unit has developed
the pilot implementation of the five winning ideas of the challenge:
“How can we bring sustainability to life in our malls and help
customers make a positive change to the world?” as part of the
Open Innovation Pilot Programme through Project hype portal.

Board of Directors
Philip Bowman (Chairman)
John Rishton
Abdullah Al Ghurair
Terry Duddy
John Sullivan
Ahmed Galal Ismail

Auditors
A resolution proposing the appointment of new auditors of Majid Al
Futtaim Properties LLC, Ernst & Young to replace KPMG, has been
approved in the General Assembly meeting held on the 24th November
2022.

On behalf of the Board of Directors

_____________________
Company Secretary

* Source: UNWTO (January 2023), World Tourism Barometer. Vol 21. Issue 1.
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To the Shareholders of Majid Al Futtaim Properties LLC 

Report on the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements 

Opinion 

We have audited the consolidated financial statement
 which comprise the consolidated statement of financial position as at      

31 December 2022, the consolidated statements of profit or loss and other comprehensive income, changes 
in equity and cash flows for the year then ended, and notes, comprising significant accounting policies and 
other explanatory information. 

In our opinion, the accompanying consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, 
the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31 December 2022, and its consolidated financial 
performance and its consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with IFRS Standards as 
issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (IFRS Standards).    

Basis for Opinion 

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (ISAs). Our responsibilities 
under those standards are further described in the 
Consolidated Financial Statements section of our report. We are independent of the Group in accordance 
with International Ethics Standards Board for Accountants International Code of Ethics for Professional 
Accountants (including International Independence Standards) (IESBA Code) together with the ethical 
requirements that are relevant to our audit of the consolidated financial statements in the United Arab 
Emirates, and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements and 
the IESBA Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to 
provide a basis for our opinion. 

Key Audit Matters 

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were of most significance in our 
audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in the 
context of our audit of the consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, 
and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters. 
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Valuation of property, plant and equipment and investment property 

See Notes 7, 16, 17 and 18 to the consolidated financial statements. 

The key audit matter How the matter was addressed in our audit 

(primarily comprising of shopping malls, hotels, offices 
and land) at fair value at each reporting date. 

The valuation of property portfolio is a significant area 
of judgement and is underpinned by a number of 
assumptions. The existence of significant estimation 
uncertainty and lack of comparable transactions, 
heightened by the ongoing regional geopolitical events 
warrants specific audit focus on this area. 

The Group engaged professionally qualified external 
valuers to fair value its property portfolio performing 
their work in accordance with the Royal Institution of 

Standards. 

The key inputs in the valuation included discount rates, 
yield rates, average daily rates, contracted estimated 
rental values, forecasted operating expenses and cost 
to complete estimates, which are influenced by 
prevailing market forces and specific characteristics 
such as property location, income return, growth rate, 
occupancy rate and development progress, of each 
property in the portfolio. 

The property portfolio (excluding land bank and 
properties under development where external valuers 
stated that fair value is not reliably determinable) was 

valuation of land is based on sales comparison method. 

The key driver of the property valuations in relation to 
the shopping malls is the contractual terms of the 
leases in place at the valuation date. These determine 
the majority of the secured cash flow profile of the 
property for the contracted lease term and therefore 
form the base of the valuation. 

The shopping mall valuation assumes adjustments 
from the existing contracted rental values in place at 
the valuation date to the estimated market rent at the 
time of the next rent review and as existing lease 
contracts expire and are expected to be replaced by 
new leases. These estimates can be several years into 
the future. 

The key driver of the property valuations in relation to 
hotels is the estimated EBITDA (Earnings before 
interest, tax, depreciation and amortization) that a 
market participant would expect to generate from the 
hotel operations. 

The effect of these matters is that, as part of our risk 
assessment, we determined that the valuation of 
properties has a high degree of estimation uncertainty, 
with a potentially significant range of reasonable 
outcomes.  

We assessed the competence, 
independence and integrity of the external 
valuers and whether the valuation 
approach was suitable for use in 
determining the fair value of the properties 
in the consolidated statement of financial 
position. 

We reviewed the terms of engagement of 
the external valuers with the Group to 
determine whether there are any matters 
that might have affected their objectivity or 
may have imposed limitations upon their 
scope of work. 

We carried out procedures on selected 
properties of the portfolio to test on a 

current information supplied to the external 
valuers by management reflects the 
underlying property records held by the 
Group which have been tested during our 
audit. 

We met with the external valuers of the 
property portfolio to discuss the results of 
their work. 

We involved our real estate valuation 
specialists to assess the valuation 
methodology and determine whether 
significant assumptions including market 
comparability for land, discount rates, 
compounded annual growth rate, EBITDA 
margin, yield rates for certain shopping 
malls and hotels are within an acceptable 
range. 

We discussed and challenged the valuation 
process, overall performance of portfolio, 
significant areas of judgement and key 
assumptions.  

We evaluated year on year movements of 
significant valuation assumptions with 
reference to published benchmarks, if any. 
Where assumptions were outside the 
expected range or otherwise deemed  
unusual, and/or valuations appeared to 
experience unexpected movements, we 
undertook further inquiries and, where 
necessary, held further discussions with 
external valuers in order to challenge the 
assumptions.

Based on the outcome of our evaluation, 
we assessed the adequacy of disclosures 
in the consolidated financial statements. 
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Other Information 

Management is responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the information 

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the other information and we do not 
express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.  

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other 
information and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the 
consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit, or otherwise appears to be 
materially misstated. If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material 
misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this 
regard. 

Responsibilities of Management and Those Charged with Governance for the Consolidated Financial 
Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated financial 
statements in accordance with IFRS Standards and their preparation in compliance with the applicable 
provisions of the UAE Federal Decree Law No. 32 of 2021 and for such internal control as management 
determines is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from 
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.  

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, management is re
ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using 
the going concern basis of accounting unless management either intends to liquidate the Group or to cease 
operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so.  

Those charged with Governance are responsible for ov

of the Consolidated Financial Statements 

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements as a 
whole are free from material misstatement, whether due 
that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an 
audit conducted in accordance with ISAs will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. 
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, 
they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these 
consolidated financial statements. 

As part of an audit in accordance with ISAs, we exercise professional judgment and maintain professional 
skepticism throughout the audit. We also: 

Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, 
whether due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and 
obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of 
not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, 
as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of 
internal control. 

Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures 
that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the 
effectiveness of the Gr

Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting 
estimates and related disclosures made by management.  
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Consolidated Financial Statements (continued) 

use of the going concern basis of accounting and, 
based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or 
conditions that may cast si  continue as a going concern. If we 
conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to dr
the related disclosures in the consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, 
to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our 

events or conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a 
going concern. 

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the consolidated financial statements, 
including the disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial statements represent the underlying 
transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation. 

Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or 
business activities within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. 
We are responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the group audit. We remain 
solely responsible for our audit opinion. 

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned scope 
and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control 
that we identify during our audit. 

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement that we have complied with relevant 
ethical requirements regarding independence, and communicate with them all relationships and other 
matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable, actions taken 
to eliminate threats or safeguards applied.  

From the matters communicated with those charged with governance, we determine those matters that 
were of most significance in the audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current period and are 
therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matte
precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a 
matter should not be communicated in our report because the adverse consequences of doing so would 
reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.  

Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements

Further, as required by the UAE Federal Decree Law No. 32 of 2021 we report that for the year ended 
31 December 2022: 

i) we have obtained all the information and explanations we considered necessary for the purposes of
our audit;

ii) the consolidated financial statements have been prepared and comply, in all material respects, with
the applicable provisions of the UAE Federal Decree Law No. 32 of 2021;

iii) the Group has maintained proper books of account;

iv) the financial information included in the 2022 Full Y eport is consistent with 
the books of account of the Group;

v) as disclosed in note 37 to the consolidated financial statements, the Group has purchased shares
during the year ended 31 December 2022;

vi) note 31 to the consolidated financial statements discloses material related party transactions and the
terms under which they were conducted;
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Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements (continued) 

vii) based on the information that has been made available to us, nothing has come to our attention which
causes us to believe that the Group has contravened during the financial year ended 31 December
2022 any of the applicable provisions of the UAE Federal Decree Law No. 32 of 2021 or in respect of
the Company, its Articles of Association, which would materially affect its activities or its consolidated
financial position as at 31 December 2022; and

viii) note 12(d) to the consolidated financial statements discloses the social contributions made during the
year ended 31 December 2022.

KPMG Lower Gulf Limited 

Richard Ackland 
Registration number.: 1015 
Dubai, United Arab Emirates 

Date:  2023 
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Consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income for the year ended 31 December

(AED in millions)
Note 2022 2021

Revenue 11 6,197 4,406
Operating expenses 12 (3,490) (2,126)
Finance costs 13 (442) (376)
Share of results of equity accounted investees - net of tax 9.1.1 55 91
Impairment loss on non-financial assets 14 (14) (124)
Impairment loss on financial assets 14 (16) (34)
Finance income 11 6
Other (expense)/income - net 15 (290) 54
Profit before net valuation gain on land and buildings and tax 2,011 1,897
Net valuation gain on land and buildings 16 1,202 1,039
Profit before tax 3,213 2,936
Income tax expense 21.1 (87) (88)
Net profit after tax 3,126 2,848
Net profit after tax attributable to:
Owners of the Company 3,114 2,848
Non-controlling interests 8.2 12 -

3,126 2,848

Comprehensive income:

Net profit after tax 3,126 2,848
Other comprehensive income (‘OCI’)
Items that will not be reclassified to profit or loss:
Gain on revaluation of property, plant and equipment 17.2a 135 168
Re-measurement of defined benefit liability 28.1 10 -
Items that are or may be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss:
Foreign operations - foreign currency translation differences* 29.4 (212) (166)
Other comprehensive income for the year, net of tax (67) 2
Total comprehensive income for the year 3,059 2,850
Total comprehensive income attributable to:
Owners of the Company 3,048 2,851
Non-controlling interests 11 (1)

3,059 2,850
*During the year, net foreign currency translation loss mainly reflects the currency devaluation arising from the Group's
operations in Egypt, partially offset by net currency translation gain from translation of Lebanon properties (refer to
note 18). In prior year, net foreign currency translation loss mainly reflects the currency devaluation arising from the
Group's operations in Lebanon (note 29.4).

The notes on pages 18 to 65 are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
The independent auditors’ report is set out on pages 8 to 12.
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Consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 December
(AED in millions)

The consolidated financial statements were approved by the Board of Directors and signed on their behalf on
________________.

___________________________________ ____________________________________

Chief Executive Officer Chief Financial Officer

The notes on pages 18 to 65 are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
The independent auditors’ report is set out on pages 8 to 12.

Note 2022 2021
Non-current assets
Property, plant and equipment 17.2 3,990 3,792
Investment property 18.2 38,583 37,263
Investments in equity accounted investees 9.1.1 857 847
Long term receivables 20.2 1,067 808
Intangible assets 19 95 106
Deferred tax assets 21.4 67 91
Right-of-use assets 32.2.1 30 22
Total non-current assets 44,689 42,929
Current assets
Inventories 22 2,264 624
Trade and other receivables 20.1 1,463 1,007
Due from related parties 31.2 76 119
Short term loan to related parties 31.2 61 43
Restricted cash 23.1 2,514 1,341
Cash and cash equivalents 23 435 336
Total current assets 6,813 3,470
Total assets 51,502 46,399
Non-current liabilities
Term loan from a related party 31.2.1 5,563 3,854
Loans and borrowings 26 7,079 7,135
Other liabilities 27 214 231
Retirement benefit obligation 28 119 112
Deferred tax liabilities 21.3 274 351
Provisions 25 46 15
Total non-current liabilities 13,295 11,698
Current liabilities
Trade and other payables 24 4,923 4,168
Provisions 25 296 151
Loans and borrowings 26 58 55
Short term loan from related parties 31.2 36 57
Due to related parties 31.2 146 388
Total current liabilities 5,459 4,819
Total liabilities 18,754 16,517
Equity
Share capital 29.1 3,500 3,500
Shareholder contribution 29.2 2,938 2,938
Revaluation reserve 14,095 13,960
Retained earnings 12,781 9,842
Other reserves (942) (741)
Equity attributable to owners of the Company 32,372 29,499
Non-controlling interests 8.2 376 383
Total equity 32,748 29,882
Total equity and liabilities 51,502 46,399
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Consolidated statement of cash flows for the year ended 31 December 2022
(AED in millions)

Note 2022 2021
Cash flows from operating activities:
Net profit for the year 3,126 2,848
Adjustments for:
Net valuation gain on land and buildings 16 (1,202) (1,039)
Finance income (11) (6)
Share of results of equity accounted investees - net of tax 9.1.1 (55) (91)
Finance costs 13 442 376
Depreciation 12 313 353
Foreign exchange loss - net 15 285 -
Income tax expense 21.1 87 88
Accrued income on operating leases 43 43
Retirement benefit obligations - net 17 (1)
Impairment loss on financial assets 14 16 34
Impairment loss on non-financial assets 14 14 124
Amortization 19 11 12
Project costs written off 15 2 5
Other income 15(a) - (54)
Discount from property sales 11.1(c) 42 -
Operating profit before working capital changes 3,130 2,692
Changes in:
Inventories 63 (26)
Trade and other receivables (775) (258)
Restricted cash 23.1 (1,173) (1,058)
Trade and other payables 884 1,191
Provisions 182 99
Due from/to related parties (84) (43)
Cash from operating activities 2,227 2,597
Income taxes paid (19) (6)
Net cash from operating activities 2,208 2,591
Cash flows from investing activities:
Additions to investment property (1,096) (1,118)
Additions to property, plant and equipment (238) (125)
Additions to intangible assets (10) (20)
Interest received 11 6
Cash received upon acquisition of subsidiaries 6 -
Proceeds from divestment in a subsidiary 15(a) - 54
Dividends from equity accounted investees 9.1.2(b) 28 10
Net cash used in investing activities (1,299) (1,193)
Cash flows from financing activities:

Proceeds from loans and borrowings and term loan from a related party
26.1, 26.2,
31.2.1 1,923 1,763

Repayment of loans and borrowings and term loan from a related party 26.1, 31.2.1 (2,278) (2,678)
Payment of lease liabilities (38) (23)
Payment of finance costs (310) (308)
Additional contribution by a minority shareholder 8.2(c) - 7
Dividend payments to non-controlling interests (18) (18)
Net cash used in financing activities (721) (1,257)
Net increase in cash and cash equivalents 188 141
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of the year 23 336 209
Effect of movements in exchange rates on cash held (89) (14)
Cash and cash equivalents at end of the year 23 435 336

The notes on pages 18 to 65 are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
The independent auditors’ report is set out on pages 8 to 12.
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Notes to consolidated financial statements

1. Reporting entity

Majid Al Futtaim Properties LLC (‘the Company’) is a
limited liability company in the Emirate of Dubai, United
Arab Emirates (‘UAE’) incorporated on 5 February 1994.
The registered address of the Company is P.O. Box
60811, Dubai, UAE. Its parent is Majid Al Futtaim Holding
LLC (‘MAFH’) and ultimate parent is Majid Al Futtaim
Capital LLC (‘MAFC’). The registered address of MAFC is
P.O. Box 91100, Dubai, UAE.

These consolidated financial statements comprise the
financial information of the Company and its subsidiaries
(together referred to as ‘the Group’) and its share of
interests in equity accounted investees.

The Group is primarily involved in investing in and
operating and managing commercial projects including
shopping malls, hotels, leisure and entertainment and
development and sale of residential communities.

The Group’s sukuk certificates (issued by a structured
entity in the Cayman Islands) are listed on the NASDAQ
Dubai and the Euronext Dublin, except for the USD 100
million (note 26.2 (b)).

During the year, Majid Al Futtaim Tilal Al Ghaf
Development LLC (‘TAG Development LLC’), previous
subsidiary of MAFC, and Waterfront City S.A.L.,
previously held by the Group as an equity accounted
investee, were transferred to the Group as wholly owned
subsidiaries (notes 35.1 & 35.2).

2. Basis of accounting

These consolidated financial statements have been
prepared on a going concern basis and in accordance
with International Financial Reporting Standards (‘IFRS’).
They are presented in United Arab Emirates Dirhams
(‘AED’) (rounded to the nearest million unless otherwise
stated), which is the functional currency of the Company.

Effective 2 January 2022, the UAE Federal Law by Decree
No. (32) of 2021 has been implemented repealing the
UAE Federal Law No. (2) of 2015 (as amended). As at the
reporting date, the Company is in the process of
amending its Articles of Association to be fully compliant
with the UAE Federal Decree Law No. (32) of 2021. These
amendments once finalized will be put before its general
assembly for approval.

These consolidated financial statements have been
prepared under the historical cost convention, with the
exception of investment property and land and buildings
(under property, plant and equipment), which are stated
at fair value.

These consolidated financial statements were approved
by the Board of Directors and authorized for issue on
_________________.

3. Impact on Events

COVID 19

During the year, the Group witnessed strong signs of
recovery after COVID-19 concerns subsided and
restrictions have been dropped. The Group re-assessed
the impact of COVID-19 on its businesses and saw a
limited impact during the year as compared to prior
years, specifically on the valuation of the Group’s asset
portfolio and the ability of these assets to generate
income. The Group’s assessment considers the level of
pandemic related economic impact, actual and expected
recovery including capacity restrictions, occupancy and
earning levels. This will be periodically reviewed and
revised for any adverse impact, especially due to
continued economic uncertainty and various factors
contributing to the evolving nature of the risk landscape.
This includes the potential for fluctuations in interest
rates, changes in consumer behavior and market trends,
and the potential for supply chain disruptions.

Egyptian Pound Devaluation

In March 2022, the Central Bank of Egypt allowed the
Egyptian Pound (EGP) to depreciate in a move to float the
currency to a flexible exchange rate. During the year, the
EGP has depreciated from EGP 4.28 against AED to EGP
6.74 (37% decline) and this primarily contributed to the
decrease of AED 212 million in the currency translation
reserve as at 31 December 2022 (refer to Note 29.4).
Subsequent to the reporting date, the EGP further lost its
value against United States Dollar (‘USD’) and the Group
will continue to monitor and reassess the impact of
further devaluation.

TAG Phase A LLC Revenue recognition

During the year, the new project launches in Majid Al
Futtaim Tilal Al Ghaf Phase A LLC (‘TAG Phase A LLC’)
contributed to the increase in total gross sales value, out
of which AED 1.8 billion (2021: AED 504 million) has been
recorded as revenue for the period ended 31 December
2022 pertaining to projects that have commenced
construction (refer to note 11). In line with the Group’s
policy, the Group has elected to apply the percentage of
construction completion (‘POC’) in allocating the
transaction price to performance obligations where
revenue is recognized over the construction period.

TAG Development LLC acquisition

On 31 December 2022, the Group acquired TAG
Development LLC with total net assets of AED 1.7 billion.
This primarily contributed to the significant increase in
the Group’s development property by AED 912 million,
representing land held by the acquired entity as at the
reporting date (note 35.1).
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Russia-Ukraine conflict

The current ongoing conflict between Russia-Ukraine has
triggered a global economic disruption and has, amongst
other impacts, led to increased volatility in global
financial markets and commodity prices due to
disruption of supply chain which may affect a broad
range of entities across different jurisdictions and
industries.

Management has carried out an assessment of its
portfolio and has concluded that it does not have any
direct exposures to/from the impacted countries and any
associated sanctions. However, potential for indirect
exposures continue to exist. At this stage it is impractical
to quantify the full impact of this conflict since it depends
largely on the nature and duration of uncertain and
unpredictable events, such as further military action,
additional sanctions, and reactions to ongoing
developments by global financial markets. Management
will continue to closely monitor the impact of this
evolving situation on its portfolio to assess its impact to
the Group, if any. As at the consolidated financial
statements approval date, the conflict did not have a
material impact to the Group's consolidated financial
statements.

4. Use of judgements and estimates

In preparing these consolidated financial statements,
management has made judgements, estimates and
assumptions that affect the application of the Group’s
accounting policies and the reported amounts of assets,
liabilities, income and expenses. Actual results may differ
from these estimates.

Estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on
an on-going basis. Revisions to estimates are recognized
prospectively.

4.1 Judgements

Information about judgements made in applying
accounting policies that have the most significant effects
on the amounts recognized in the consolidated financial
statements is included in the following notes:

Note 8 - Interest in other entities
Note 11.1 - Satisfaction of performance obligations
Note 11.1 - Determination of transaction price
Note 11.1 – Existence of a significant financing
component in the contract
Note 11.1 - Transfer of control in contracts with
customers
Note 11(d) - Discretionary rent relief program
Note 17.1.2 - Apportionment of fair values between
land and buildings
Note 18.1 - Accounting for dual use property

Note 22.1 - Net realizable value of development
property
Note 29.2(a) - Subordinated capital loan instruments
Note 32.1 - Determining the lease term as lessee:
Whether the Group is reasonably certain to exercise
option to renew

4.2 Assumptions and estimation uncertainties

Information about assumptions and estimation
uncertainties that have a significant risk of resulting in
material adjustments to the amounts recognized in the
consolidated financial statements is included in the
following notes:

Note 7.2 - Measurement of fair values and valuation
process: key inputs and assumptions underlying fair
values.
Note 11.1 - Measurement and recognition of revenue
on property sales: key assumptions and estimation
uncertainties such as allocation of transaction price to
performance obligation in contracts with customers,
and cost to complete the projects.
Note 14.1 - Impairment test: key assumptions
underlying recoverable amounts, including the
recoverability of development costs.
Note 18.2 (i) – Foreign currency translation of certain
Lebanon assets.
Note 20 - Measurement of loss allowances on trade
and other receivables: key assumptions in
determining the loss rate, including assessment of
facts and circumstances such as liquidation,
bankruptcy, litigation, financial difficulties, etc.
Note 21 - Recognition of deferred tax assets:
availability of future taxable profit against which
deductible temporary differences and unused tax
losses/credits carried forward can be utilized.
Note 28.1 – Measurement of retirement benefit
obligation: key valuation assumptions underlying
discount rate, service period and salary increase.
Note 29.4 – Lebanon and Egypt currency devaluation
Note 34.1 – Contingencies: key assumptions about
the likelihood and magnitude of an outflow of
resources
Note 9.1.2 (a) – Significant influence over an equity
accounted investee.
Forecast of costs to complete on properties under
construction or redevelopment:

The estimation or forecast of cost to complete (‘CTC’) on
properties under construction, development property or
redevelopment involves uncertainties.

There are a number of principles that apply to all
contracts regardless of size, scale or location. All projects
have a Project Cost Review (‘PCR’) on a regular basis
where project management issues the forecast to
complete the project. The PCR is attended by all relevant
stakeholders within the management group. This
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forecast to complete includes input from all budget
stakeholders who review the Total Development Cost
(‘TDC’) and not just construction related costs. The
construction forecast is reviewed and analysed for
completeness. Any gaps in the report (early warnings,
etc.) are adjusted within the forecasted cost to complete.

The PCR is the forum for the business to review the cost
to complete to ensure that the costs reflect an accurate
view of the costs to complete. During the PCR there is a
debate with all project budget holders on the adequacy
of their budgets to complete the project deliverables.
Items such as claims are discussed and forecasted in the
manner set out above to ensure the business is aware of
the provision set aside to deal with these claims or
potential claims. The impact of cost changes and
forecasts are then taken by the respective development
teams and input into the development appraisal,
forecasting the impact on the project KPI’s, triggering
action as required by the Delegation of Authority (‘DOA’).

5. Significant accounting policies

5.1 New Standards and Amendments to IFRSs that are
mandatorily effective for the current year

In the current year, a number of new standards and
amendments to IFRSs that are mandatorily effective for
accounting period that begins on or after 1 January 2022:

COVID-19-Related Rent Concessions beyond 30 June
2021 (Amendment to IFRS 16)
Onerous contracts – Cost of fulfilling a contract
(Amendments to IAS 37).
Annual improvements to IFRS Standards 2018 – 2020.
Property, plant and equipment: Proceeds before
intended use (Amendments to IAS 16).
Reference to the Conceptual Framework
(Amendments to IFRS 3).

These standards and amendments do not have a
significant impact on the Group’s consolidated financial
statements as at 31 December 2022.

The Group has consistently applied the accounting
policies to all periods presented in these consolidated
financial statements.

Note Accounting policy Page
6.1 Foreign currency 20
6.2 Borrowing costs 21
6.3 Properties under construction 21
7 Fair value measurement 22
8 Subsidiaries 24
9 Investments in equity

accounted investees
26

10 Operating segments 28

Note Accounting policy Page
11 Revenue 31
13 Finance costs 34
14 Impairment loss 35
17 Property, plant and equipment 37
18 Investment property 40
19 Intangible assets 42
20 Trade and other receivables 43
21 Income tax 44
22 Inventories 46
24 Trade and other payables 48
25 Provisions 49
28 Retirement benefit obligation 51
30 Financial instruments 54
32 Leases 62

5.2 Standards issued but not yet effective

The Group has not early adopted the following new and
revised IFRSs that have been issued but are not yet
effective as at the reporting date, with the
corresponding effectivity date:

Classification of liabilities as current or non-current
(Amendments to IAS 1) (1 January 2023).
IFRS 17 Insurance Contracts (1 January 2023).
Disclosure of Accounting Policies (Amendments to IAS
1 and IFRS Practice Statement 2) (1 January 2023).
Definition of Accounting Estimate (Amendments to
IAS 8) (1 January 2023).
Deferred Tax Related to Assets and Liabilities Arising
from a Single Transaction – Amendments to IAS 12
Income Taxes (1 January 2023).
Sale or contribution of assets between an investor
and its associate or joint venture (Amendments to
IFRS 10 and IAS 28) (Effective date deferred
indefinitely).
Lease Liability in a Sale and Leaseback (Amendments
to IFRS 16): Transition, effective date and due process
(Agenda Paper 12C) (1 January 2024)

These new and revised IFRSs are not expected to have a
significant impact on the Group’s consolidated financial
statements.

6. General accounting policies

6.1 Foreign currency

Foreign currency transactions

Transactions denominated in foreign currencies are
translated into the respective functional currencies of
Group entities at the exchange rates at the dates of the
transactions.

Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign
currencies are translated into the functional currency at



Majid Al Futtaim Properties LLC and its subsidiaries
Consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2022 21

the exchange rates at the reporting date. Non-monetary
assets and liabilities that are measured at fair value in a
foreign currency are translated to the functional
currency at the exchange rate when the fair value was
determined. Non-monetary items that are measured
based on historical cost in a foreign currency are
translated at the exchange rates at the date of the
transaction. Foreign currency differences are generally
recognized in profit or loss.

Foreign operations

The assets and liabilities of foreign operations are
translated into the functional currency at the exchange
rates at the reporting date. The income and expenses of
foreign operations are translated into the functional
currency at the average exchange rates during the year.

Foreign currency differences on translation are
recognized in OCI and accumulated in the translation
reserve in equity, except to the extent that the
translation difference is attributable to NCI. When a
foreign operation is disposed of such that control,
significant influence or joint control is lost, the
cumulative amount in the translation reserve related to
that foreign operation is reclassified to profit or loss as
part of the gain or loss on disposal. If the Group disposes
of part of its interest in a subsidiary but retains control,
then the relevant proportion of the cumulative amount
is reattributed to NCI. When the Group disposes of only
part of an associate or a joint venture while retaining
significant influence or joint control, the relevant
proportion of the cumulative amount is reclassified to
profit or loss.

If the settlement of a monetary item receivable from or
payable to a foreign operation is neither planned nor
likely to occur in the foreseeable future, then foreign
currency differences arising from such a monetary item
are considered to form a part of the net investment in
the foreign operation. Accordingly such differences are
recognized in other comprehensive income, and
accumulated in the currency translation reserve in equity
and reclassified to profit or loss on disposal of the net
investment in the foreign operation.

In 2020, Lebanon became a hyperinflationary economy.
Management performed a detailed assessment of the
impact of applying IAS 29 Financial Reporting in
Hyperinflationary Economies. During the year,
management determined that the impact of applying IAS
29 is not material to the Group (note 29.4).

6.2 Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs are recognized as expenses in the period
in which they are incurred. Borrowing costs that are
directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or

production of a qualifying asset are capitalized as part of
the cost of that asset. Capitalization of borrowing costs
commences when the activities to prepare the asset are
in progress and expenditures and borrowing costs are
being incurred. Capitalization of borrowing costs
continues until the assets are substantially ready for the
intended use. The capitalization rate is arrived at by
reference to the actual rate payable on borrowings for
development purposes or, with regard to that part of the
development cost financed out of general funds.

6.3 Properties under construction

Work in progress in respect of capital expenditure
including land is classified as properties under
construction.

Interest and other overheads directly attributable to the
projects are included in properties under construction
until completion thereof.

Properties under construction with an intention of
building an investment property is carried at fair value.
When the fair value is not reliably determinable due to
the projects being in various stages of construction, the
capital expenditure and land are carried at cost less
impairment if any until the fair value of the property is
reliably determinable.

For other properties that are developed with an
intention of constructing an owner occupied property,
both the capital expenditure and land are carried at cost,
less impairment, if any, until a stage at which the fair
value can be reliably determined and as such will be
recorded at fair value.

Development costs are capitalized after successful initial
feasibility is conducted and before a site is acquired,
subject to an approved budget and formal sign-off of a
summary scoping document by management. These
development costs are shown as assets under properties
under construction and development property.
Development costs carried forward are reviewed in
subsequent periods to ensure that circumstances have
not changed such that the criteria for capitalization still
holds good. However in circumstances where the criteria
has changed, the costs are written-off or provided for to
the extent they are believed to be irrecoverable.
Regardless of the foregoing, if management has not
obtained the Company’s Board of Directors’ approval to
proceed to the next development stage within 24
months after its inception, the project will be deemed
impaired and the full accumulated work in progress
balance of that project (excluding land value, if land has
been acquired) will be written off and charged to profit
or loss. In order to carry forward such development
expenses, it is required to substantiate that these costs
are relevant to the project and the Company's Board of
Directors' approve these costs.
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7. Fair value measurement

7.1 Accounting Policy

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an
asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly
transaction between market participants at the
measurement date in the principal or in its absence, the
most advantageous market to which the Group has
access at that date. The fair value of a liability reflects
its non-performance risk.

When it is available, the Group measures the fair value
using the quoted price in an active market. A market is
regarded as active if transactions for the asset or liability
take place with sufficient frequency and volume to
provide pricing information on an ongoing basis.

If there is no quoted price in an active market, then the
Group uses valuation techniques that maximize the use
of relevant observable inputs and minimize the use of
unobservable inputs. The chosen valuation technique
incorporates all of the factors that market participants
would take into account in pricing a transaction.

Determination of fair value hierarchy

Fair values are categorized into different levels in a fair
value hierarchy based on the inputs used in the
valuation techniques as follows:

Level 1: Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets
for identical assets. An 'active market' is a market in
which transactions for the asset take place with
sufficient frequency and volume for pricing information
to be provided on an ongoing basis.

Level 2: Inputs other than quoted prices included in
Level 1 that are observable for the asset, either directly
(i.e. as prices) or indirectly (i.e. derived from prices). An
example of a Level 2 category would be the observable
sales price of a similar sized asset during the normal
course of business.

Level 3: Inputs for the asset that are not based on
observable market data (unobservable inputs). This
category includes instruments whose inputs are not
based on observable data and the unobservable inputs
have a significant effect on the instrument’s valuation.

For example discount rates, growth rates, net
equivalent yield etc.

If the inputs used to measure the fair value of an asset
might be categorized in different levels of the fair value
hierarchy, then the fair value measurement is
categorized in its entirety in the same level of the fair
value hierarchy as the lowest level input that is
significant to the entire measurement.

The Group recognizes transfers between levels of the
fair value hierarchy at the end of the reporting period
during which the change has occurred.

A number of the Group’s accounting policies and
disclosures require the measurement of fair values,
mainly for non-financial assets.

7.2 Measurement of fair values and valuation process

Non-financial assets

The fair value of the investment properties and land and
buildings included within property, plant and
equipment is determined twice a year at 31 December
and 30 June by independent external valuer with
sufficient current local and international knowledge of
the respective property markets and member of the
Royal Institution of Chartered Surveyors (RICS). The
valuation has been prepared in accordance with the
RICS Valuation Global Standards-2020 in conjunction
with the International Valuations Standards and the
RICS Professional Standards (the ‘Red Book’).

The key drivers of the property valuations in relation to
the shopping malls are the discount rates applied and
the leases that are in place at the valuation date.
Current leases determine the secured cash flow profile
of the property and therefore form the base of the
valuation. The valuations assume market rent is
achieved on expiry of the contractual term of each
lease. The market rent is calculated based on market
evidence and recent leasing transactions, which is based
on evidence available at the date of valuation.

The key driver of the property valuations in relation to
the hotels are the discount rates applied as well as the
forecasted EBITDA generated from its operations.
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A summary of valuations of the Group’s investment property and land and buildings, including capital work in progress,
is given below:

(AED in millions)
2022 2021

Assets valued by independent external valuers 39,865 38,917
Assets valued internally 2,130 1,740

41,995 40,657

The following table shows the valuation technique used in measuring the fair value of investment property and land
and buildings included within property, plant and equipment:

Class of asset
Valuation
technique Description

Shopping malls
(stabilized)

Discounted cash
flows (‘DCF’)

The gross fair value (net of costs to complete) is derived using DCF and is
benchmarked against net initial yield and comparable transactions.

Shopping malls
[fair value is
reliably
determinable
(non-
operational)/
newly
operational]

Income
capitalization
approach

Where the external valuer can reliably determine the fair value of the asset,
the gross fair value (net of costs to complete) is derived by applying asset
specific capitalization rates on the net operating income streams of the
property benchmarked to market rates. Following a period of operation
(stabilization) the asset is valued using DCF as detailed above.

Hotels Discounted cash
flows

The fair value derived using DCF for Hotels is benchmarked against capital
value per key and net initial yield.

Offices Income
capitalization
approach

Fair value is derived by applying asset specific capitalization rate on the net
operating income of the property benchmarked to market rates.

Lands Comparable
market
transactions
approach

Properties held for future development (‘land bank’) are valued using
comparable methodology which involves analysing other relevant market
transactions. Comparable methodology can involve a parcelisation
approach where it is assumed a larger plot is subdivided and sold in smaller
lot sizes over a period of time.

Financial liability

The following table shows the valuation technique used in measuring the fair value of the sukuk certificates included
within ‘loans and borrowings’:

Class of asset Description
Sukuk certificates (except for the USD 100 million
private placement sukuk) (note 26.2(b))

The fair value for sukuk certificates is benchmarked against
the quoted market price (Level 2).

7.3 Assumptions and determination of fair value hierarchy

Further information about the assumptions made in measuring fair values and determination of fair value hierarchy is
included in the following notes:

Note 17 – Property, plant and equipment
Note 18 – Investment property
Note 30 – Financial instruments
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8. Subsidiaries

Accounting Policy

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the
financial information of the Company and entities
(including a structured entity) controlled by the
Company and its subsidiaries.

Subsidiaries

Subsidiaries are entities controlled by the Group. The
Group controls an entity when it is exposed to, or has
rights to, variable returns from its involvement with the
entity and has the ability to affect those returns through
its power over the entity. The financial information of
the subsidiaries is consolidated on a line by line basis
(including adjustments to align the accounting policies
to the Group’s accounting policies, when necessary),
from the date on which control commences until the
date on which control ceases.

Transactions eliminated on consolidation

Intra-group balances and transactions, and any
unrealized income and expenses arising from intra-
group transactions are eliminated. Unrealized gains
arising from transactions with equity accounted
investees are eliminated against the investment to the
extent of the Group’s interest in the investee.
Unrealized losses are eliminated in the same way as
unrealized gains, but only to the extent that there is no
evidence of impairment.

Non-controlling interests

Non-controlling interests (‘NCI’) are measured at their
proportionate share of the acquiree’s identifiable net
assets at the acquisition date.

Loss of control

When the Group loses control over a subsidiary, it
derecognizes the assets and liabilities of the subsidiary,
and any NCI and other components of equity. Any
resulting gain or loss is recognized in profit or loss. Any
interest retained in the former subsidiary is measured
at fair value when control is lost. Changes in the Group’s
interest in a subsidiary that do not result in a loss of
control are accounted for as equity transactions.

Business combinations

All business combinations are accounted for by applying
the purchase method except for acquisition of entities
under common control. The excess of cost of acquisition

over the Group’s interest in the fair value of the
identifiable assets and liabilities at the date of
acquisition is recorded as goodwill. Negative goodwill
arising on acquisition is immediately recognized in the
profit or loss. Goodwill is tested annually for
impairment and is carried at cost less accumulated
impairment losses, if any. On disposal of a subsidiary /
joint venture / associate, the attributable amount of
goodwill is included in the determination of the profit or
loss on disposal.

Business combinations involving entities under common
control

Business combinations arising from transfer of interests
in entities that are under the control of the shareholder
that controls the Group are accounted for as if the
acquisition has occurred at the beginning of the earliest
comparative year presented or, if later, at the date that
common control was established. The Group applies the
book value measurement method to all common
control transactions. The assets and liabilities acquired
or transferred are recognized or de-recognized at the
carrying amounts recognized or de-recognized
previously in the ultimate holding entity’s consolidated
financial statements. The components of OCI of the
acquired entities are added to the same components
within the Group’s OCI. Any gain/loss arising is
recognized directly in OCI. When a common control
entity is sold or transferred, the cumulative amount in
the currency translation reserve related to that entity is
reclassified to profit or loss in line with the accounting
policy on foreign operations (note 6.1).

Interest in other entities

The Group does not hold any direct ownership interest
in MAF Sukuk Ltd. (a limited liability company
incorporated in the Cayman Islands) which is a
structured entity. However, based on the terms of the
agreement under which this entity is established, the
Group receives substantially all of the returns related to
its operations and net assets and has the current ability
to direct this entity’s activities that most significantly
affect these returns. MAF Sukuk Ltd. has issued Sukuk
Certificates which are listed on NASDAQ Dubai and
Euronext Dublin, except for the USD 100 million.
Accordingly, the results and the financial position of the
structured entity are included in these consolidated
financial statements.
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8.1 Details of the Group’s material subsidiaries:

Name of material subsidiary Principal activity Country of
incorporation

Proportion of ownership
and voting rights held (%)

2022 2021
Majid Al Futtaim Shopping Malls LLC a, d Shopping malls UAE 100% 100%
Majid Al Futtaim Hospitality LLC a Hotels UAE 100% 100%
Majid Al Futtaim Properties Lebanon LLC a, b Shopping malls/Mixed

use communities UAE 100% 100%
Majid Al Futtaim Development LLC a, d, e Mixed use communities UAE 100% 100%
Majid Al Futtaim Properties Saudia LLC a, d Shopping malls/Mixed

use communities/Hotels UAE 100% 100%
Majid Al Futtaim Properties Co. Oman LLC b Shopping malls Oman 100% 100%
City Centre Almaza S.A.E. b Shopping malls Egypt 100% 100%
Majid Al Futtaim Properties Egypt SAE b Shopping malls/L&E Egypt 100% 100%
Majid Al Futtaim Real Estate Investments LLC Investment in

commercial enterprises UAE 100% 100%

MAF Sukuk Ltd. c

Issuing sukuks under the
Trust Certificate Issuance
Program Cayman Islands 100% 100%

Fujairah City Centre Investment Company LLC Shopping mall UAE 62.5% 62.5%
a) Certain subsidiaries owned by these entities are material to the Group.
b) The shares of certain subsidiaries are held by MAFH and its subsidiaries for the beneficial interest of the Group.
c) MAF Sukuk Ltd. is a subsidiary of the Company by virtue of control exercised over it.
d) Based on the approval provided by MAFP Group Board of Directors in the prior year, a number of subsidiaries were

liquidated during the year. The liquidation of certain subsidiaries did not result in material impact at the Group level.
e) During the year, Tilal Al Ghaf LLC, a wholly owned subsidiary of MAFC, transferred its investment in TAG Development

LLC to a subsidiary of the Group (note 35.1).
f) During the year, a subsidiary of the Company acquired the remaining 50% shareholding in Waterfront City S.A.L.,

which was previously held by the Group as a joint venture at 50% interest share (note 35.2).

8.2 Details of NCI in non-wholly-owned subsidiaries:
(AED in millions)

Name of subsidiary

Country of incorporation
and principal place of
business

Proportion of
ownership and voting

rights held by NCI
Profit / (loss)

allocated to NCI Accumulated NCI
2022 2021 2022 2021 2022 2021

Fujairah City Centre
Investment Company LLC
(‘FCC’) a

UAE
37.5% 37.5% 18 21 151 152

Aswaq Al Emarat Trading
Closed Joint Stock Co.c Kingdom of Saudi Arabia 15% 15% (6) (21) 225 230
Suburban Development
Company S.A.L (‘SDC’) b Lebanon 3.18% 3.18% - - (1) -
Individually immaterial
subsidiaries with NCI Various Various - - 1 1
Total 12 - 376 383

a) During the year, FCC declared and paid dividends to the non-controlling interest amounting to AED 18 million
(31 December 2021: AED 18 million) from retained earnings available for distribution.

b) During the year, translation of SDC operation to AED resulted in a foreign currency translation loss attributable to
NCI amounting to AED 1 million (2021: AED 1 million).

c) In prior year, an additional contribution of AED 7 million has been made by the non-controlling interest.
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9. Investments in equity accounted investees

Accounting Policy

The Group’s interests in equity accounted investees
comprise interests in joint ventures and associates.

A joint venture is an arrangement in which the Group
has joint control, whereby the Group has rights to the
net assets of the arrangement, rather than rights to its
assets and obligations for its liabilities. An associate is
an entity in which the Group has significant influence,
but not control or joint control, over the financial and
operating policies.

Associates are those entities in which the Group has
significant influence, but not control or joint control,
over the financial and operating policies.

Interest in joint ventures and associate are accounted
for using the equity method. They are initially
recognized at cost, which includes transaction costs.

Subsequent to initial recognition, the consolidated
financial statements include the Group’s share of the
profit or loss and OCI of equity accounted investees
(post adjustments for aligning accounting policies to the
Group’s accounting policies, when necessary), until the
date on which significant influence or joint control
ceases.

Unrealized gains arising from transactions with equity
accounted investees are eliminated against the
investment to the extent of the Group’s interest in the
investee. Unrealized losses are eliminated in the same
way as unrealized gains, but only to the extent that
there is no evidence of impairment.

9.1 Investments in joint ventures and associate

9.1.1 Summary:
(AED in millions)

2022 2021
Sharjah Holding Co. PJSC (‘SHC’) 333 365
Al Mouj Muscat S.A.O.C. (‘AMM’) 451 407
Enova Facilities Management Services LLC (‘Enova’) 73 62
Other joint ventures (note 9.1.2 (c) and (d)) - 13
Carrying amount at the reporting date 857 847

Group’s share of profit from continuing operations - net of tax 55 91
Group’s share of other comprehensive income - net of tax - -
Group’s share of total comprehensive income for the year 55 91

9.1.2 Details of the joint ventures and associate:

Name of joint venture/
associate

Principal activity Country of
incorporation

Proportion of ownership
and voting rights held
2022 2021

Sharjah Holding Co. PJSC Shopping malls and sale of real estate UAE 50% 50%
Al Mouj Muscat S.A.O.C. Sale of real estate Oman 50% 50%
Enova Facilities
Management Services LLC a

Facilities management services UAE 51% 51%

a) In 2021, the Group acquired 51% ownership interest in Enova, however, the investment was accounted for using
equity method as an investment in associate as the Group only exercises significant influence on the financial and
operating policy decisions of Enova.

b) During the year, a subsidiary of the Group acquired the remaining 50% shareholding in Waterfront City S.A.L.
(‘WFC’). This increased the Group’s share ownership from 50% to 100%. On the date of acquisition, the carrying
amount of the net assets of the investee reflected in the Group’s consolidated financial statement amounted to
AED 2 million (note 35.2).
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Summary of unaudited financial information of the joint ventures (adjusted for aligning accounting policies to the
Group’s accounting policies) is as follows:

(AED in millions)
SHC AMM Enova b Others c, d

2022 2021 2022 2021 2022 2021 2022 2021*
Current assets 1,404 1,230 2,411 2,392 727 446 1 31
Non-current assets 377 423 395 387 47 44 26 100
Current liabilities (866) (647) (1,425) (1,425) (572) (322) (30) (89)
Non-current liabilities (249) (276) (479) (540) (59) (47) - (2)
Net assets/(liabilities) 666 730 902 814 143 121 (3) 40
Net assets - Group’s share 333 365 451 407 73 62 - 13

* Balance is net of right of use asset and lease liability elimination.
(AED in millions)

SHC AMM a Enova b Others c ,d

2022 2021 2022 2021 2022 2021 2022 2021
Revenue 618 537 697 447 1,037 816 - 10
Profit/(loss) from continuing operations (59) 59 89 44 85 71 (1) 1
Other comprehensive income - - - - - - - -
Total comprehensive income/(loss) (59) 59 89 44 85 71 (1) 1
Group’s share of profit/(loss) from continuing
operations (32) 29 44 25 44 36 (1) 1

Carrying amount - At 1 January 365 336 407 421 62 - 13 32
Group’s share of profit/(loss) from continuing
operations (32) 29 44 25 44 36 (1) 1

Reversal of impairment for the year (note 14) - - - - - - 5 -
Currency translation adjustment - - - (1) (5) (2) (10) (20)
Additions during the year - - - - - 50 - -
Acquisition of WFC (notes 9.1.2(b) & 35.2) - - - - - - (2) -
Dividends declared by equity investees - - - (38) (28) (22) (5) -
Carrying amount - At 31 December 333 365 451 407 73 62 - 13

a) In 2021, the Group reinstated the dividend receivable of AED 38 million from Al Mouj Muscat S.A.O.C. (“AMM”)
subsequent to confirmation of the joint venture compliance with its loan covenants in April 2021 and AMM
management intention to settle the dividend in period of 3 years. Accordingly, the receivable was discounted from
AED 38 million to AED 27 million with a charge of AED 11 million recorded in the profit or loss. The carrying amount
of receivable has been adjusted against the unamortized discount of AED 34 million (31 December 2021: AED 30
million).

b) In 2021, the Group acquired 51% ownership in Enova Facilities Management Services LLC amounting to
AED 50 million, which was transferred from Majid Al Futtaim Ventures LLC under a common control transaction
withinMAFH group.Management has accounted for its investment in associate using equity method. Further during
the year, Enova declared dividends amounting to AED 28 million (2021: AED 22 million).

c) In 2021, the Board of Directors of a joint venture in UAE has resolved to amicably wind up the joint venture company
and terminate the Musataha Agreement. The Group’s share of loss from the joint venture exceeded the carrying
amount of the investment and, accordingly, the Group has discontinued recognizing its aggregate share of loss
amounting to AED 12 million (2021: AED 7 million) as the Group’s interest in the joint venture was reduced to zero
and remains fully provided for as at the reporting date and in the prior year. Liquidation proceedings for the JV
company are in progress.

d) The carrying amount of investment in other immaterial joint ventures amounting to AED nil (2021: AED 13 million)
is after provision for impairment of AED 97 million (2021: AED 104 million) as at the reporting date. Further, the
immaterial joint ventures recorded an aggregate share of loss amounting to AED 1 million (2021: AED 1 million
aggregate share of gain) during the year. During the year, other immaterial joint ventures recorded foreign currency
translation loss of AED 10 million (2021: AED 20 million) mainly reflects the currency devaluation in Egypt and
Lebanon.

e) The Group received AED 28 million (2021: AED 10 million) cash from ENOVA dividend declaration during the year as
disclosed in the consolidated statement of cash flows.
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11. Revenue

Accounting Policy

Revenue mainly comprises rental income and revenue
from contracts with customers.

Rental income
Rental income, including fixed rental uplifts, from
investment property leased out under an operating lease
is recognized in profit or loss on a straight-line basis over
the term of the lease from the lease commencement
date. Lease incentives being offered to lessees to enter
into a lease, such as an initial rent-free period or a cash
contribution to fit-out or similar costs, are an integral
part of the net rental income and are therefore
recognized on the same straight-line basis. Contingent
rents, being lease payments that are not fixed at the
inception of the lease, for example turnover rents, are
recorded as income in the periods in which they are
earned. Refer to note 32 for the accounting policy on
leases.

Revenue from contracts with customers
Revenues from contracts with customers include
revenue from property sales, hospitality, leisure and
entertainment, project management and other
activities.

The Group recognizes revenue from contracts with
customers based on a five steps model as set out in IFRS
15:
Step 1 Identify contract(s) with a customer: A contract

is defined as an agreement between two or
more parties that creates enforceable rights and
obligations and sets out the criteria for every
contract that must be met.

Step 2 Identify performance obligations in the
contract: A performance obligation is a promise
in a contract with a customer to transfer a good
or service to the customer.

Step 3 Determine the transaction price: The
transaction price is the amount of consideration
the Group expects to be entitled to in exchange
for transferring the promised goods or services
to a customer, excluding amounts collected on
behalf of third parties.

Step 4 Allocate the transaction price to the
performance obligations in the contract: For a
contract that has more than one performance
obligation, the Group allocates the transaction
price to each performance obligation in an
amount that depicts the amount of
consideration to which the Group expects to be
entitled to in exchange for satisfying each
performance obligation.

Step 5 Recognize revenue when (or as) the Group
satisfies a performance obligation.

The Group satisfies a performance obligation and
recognizes revenue over time, if one of the following
criteria is met:

The customer simultaneously receives and
consumes the benefits provided by the Group’s
performance as the Group performs; or
The Group’s performance creates or enhances an
asset that the customer controls as the asset is
created or enhanced; or
The Group does not create an asset with an
alternative use to the Group and the Group has an
enforceable right to payment for performance
obligation completed to date.

For performance obligations where one of the above
conditions are not met, revenue is recognized at the
point in time at which performance obligation is satisfied.

When the Group satisfies a performance obligation by
delivering the promised goods or services, it creates a
contract asset based on the amount of consideration
earned by the performance. Where the amount of
consideration received from a customer exceeds the
amount of revenue recognized this gives rise to a
contract liability. Contract asset is currently presented as
“Unbilled receivables” under trade and other receivables
(note 20). Contract liabilities is currently presented as
“Advances from customers” under trade and other
payables (note 24).

Revenue from contracts with customers is recognized
when control of the goods or services are transferred to
the customer at an amount that reflects the
consideration to which the Group is expected to be
entitled in exchange for those goods or services,
excluding amounts collected on behalf of third parties
(i.e. taxes and duty). The Group assesses its revenue
arrangements against specific criteria to determine if it is
acting as principal or agent, The Group has concluded
that it is acting as a principal in all of its revenue
arrangements.

Revenue is recognized in the income statement to the
extent that it is probable that the economic benefits will
flow to the Group and the revenue and costs, if
applicable, can be measured reliably.

Revenue from property sales is recognized upon
satisfaction of performance obligation by delivering the
promised goods or services.

Revenue from hospitality, leisure and entertainment and
other activities (such as service charge, marketing and
promotion contribution) is recognized on rendering the
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services and when the revenue can bemeasured reliably.
The Group assesses its performance against obligations
conditional on earning the income, with income
recognized either over time as the obligations are met,
or recognized at the point when all obligations are met,
depending on contractual requirements.

Sale of alcohol

The purchase of alcohol for hotels and residence is the
responsibility of the relevant Hotel Management
Company, and the revenue derived from sale is deemed
to be that of the Hotel Management Company. The profit
resulting from the sales of alcoholic beverages forms part
of the Hotel Management Company’s incentive fee.

11.1 Critical judgements

Revenue from contracts with customers is recognized in
accordance with IFRS 15 which requires management to
make the following judgements and estimations:

Satisfaction of performance obligations

The Group is required to assess each of its contracts with
customers to determine whether performance
obligations are satisfied over time or at a point in time in
order to determine the appropriate method of
recognizing revenue. The Group has assessed that based
on the sale and purchase agreements entered into with
customers and the provisions of relevant laws and
regulations, where contracts are entered into to provide
real estate assets customer, the Group creates an asset
with no alternative use to the Group and has an
enforceable right to payment for performance
completed to date. In these circumstances, the Group
recognizes revenue over time. Where this is not the case,
revenue is recognized at a point in time.

Determination of transaction price

The Group is required to determine the transaction price
in respect of each of its contracts with customers. In
making such judgement the Group assess the impact of
any variable consideration in the contract, due to
discounts or penalties, the existence of any significant
financing component in the contract and any non-cash
consideration in the contract. In determining the impact
of variable consideration, the Group uses the “most-
likely amount” method in IFRS whereby the transaction
price is determined by reference to the single most likely
amount in a range of possible consideration amounts.

Existence of a significant financing component in the
contract

In determining the transaction price, the Group adjusts
the amount of consideration for the effects of the time
value of money if the timing of payments agreed upon

provides the customer with a significant benefit of
financing the transfer of units to the customer and is
applicable at individual contracts. The Group used the
discount rate that reflects a separate financing
transaction between the Group and its customer at
contract inception. The rate reflects the credit
characteristics of the customer as well as any collateral,
including assets to be transferred. The discounting only
applies to collections received after the delivery of units
due to timing difference between the completion of
performance obligation and payments deferred over
multiple years post-handover date. The discount
calculated at the inception will be offset against revenue
and unbilled receivables. The amortization of the
discount is expected to be over period of up to 3 years
post-handover date. The impact of discounting as of 31
December 2022 amounted to AED 42 million presented
at the net in “Revenue from property sales - net” under
Revenue (note 11.1(c)) and “Unbilled receivables” under
trade and other receivables (note 20). No unwinding of
discount has been recorded during the year as the Group
has not yet started the collections from the post-
handover plan.

Transfer of control in contracts with customers

In cases where the Group determines that performance
obligations are satisfied at a point in time, revenue is
recognized when control over the assets that is the
subject of the contract is transferred to the customer. In
the case of contracts to sell real estate assets, this is
generally when the unit has been handed over to the
customer and when the consideration for the unit has
been substantially received.

Allocation of transaction price to performance obligation
in contracts with customers

The Group has elected to apply the input method in
allocating the transaction price to performance
obligations where revenue is recognized over time. The
Group considers that the use of the input method which
requires revenue recognition based on the Group’s
efforts to the satisfaction of the performance obligation
which provides the best reference of revenue earned. In
applying the input method, the Group estimates the cost
to complete the projects in order to determine the
amount of revenue to be recognized.

Cost to complete the projects

The Group estimates the cost to complete the projects in
order to determine the cost attributable to revenue
being recognized. These estimates include the cost of
providing infrastructure, potential claims by contractors
as evaluated by the project management business unit
and the cost of meeting other contractual obligations to
the customers.
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(AED in millions)
2022 2021

Revenue from investment property:
- Rental income a, d 2,881 2,701
- Service charge 433 405
- Marketing and promotion contribution 107 99
- Other 24 36

Revenue from property sales - net b, c 1,819 504
Revenue from hospitality 671 453
Revenue from leisure and entertainment (L&E) 224 160
Project management revenue 20 29
Other revenue 18 19

6,197 4,406
a) Rental income includes AED 188 million (2021: AED 126 million) from shopping malls opened in 2021.
b) Revenue from property sales of AED 1,819 million (2021: AED 504 million), net of AED 29 million

(2021: AED 10 million) transfer fees to a government authority, pertains to TAG Phase A LLC revenue recognition.
This also includes revenue from property sales to key management personnel, which are carried out at an arm’s
length basis (note 31.1).

c) Revenue from property sales during the year is net of AED 42million discount against the transaction price for certain
units sold with a significant financing component due to timing difference between the timing of cash receipt and
revenue recognition.

d) In 2020, management provided a discretionary rent relief program as part of the Group’s commitment to supporting
its tenants subsequent to the re-opening of the Group’s shopping malls post lockdown period. The rent relief program
was awarded to eligible tenants through modification of lease terms and, hence, amortized over the new lease term
in accordance with IFRS 16. The associated charge from the discretionary rent relief program to the consolidated
statement of profit or loss for the year ended 31 December 2022 amounted to AED 94million (2021: AED 128million).
As at reporting date, the unamortized portion of this rent relief is AED 74 million (2021: AED 158 million).

11.2 Disaggregation of revenue
The following table shows the disaggregation of the Group’s revenue in terms of timing of revenue recognition.

(AED in millions)
2022 2021

Revenue categorized under IFRS 15 ‘Revenue from Contracts with Customers’:
Over period of time a 1,819 504
At a point in time b 1,497 1,201
Revenue categorized under IFRS 16 ‘Leases’:
Rental income 2,881 2,701

6,197 4,406
a) Revenue recognized over period of time reflects the revenue from TAG Phase A LLC property sales.
b) Revenue recognized at a point in time mainly reflects the revenue from hospitality, L&E, non-rental charges from

shopping malls and project management.
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12. Operating expenses
(AED in millions)

2022 2021
Cost of revenue from property sales a (1,330) (374)
Employee benefits b, c (674) (535)
Depreciation (notes 17.2, 31.1 and 32.2.1) (313) (353)
Selling and marketing expenses (157) (116)
Facilities maintenance and repairs (156) (130)
Utilities (117) (72)
Sales commission a (84) (25)
Housekeeping expenses (83) (71)
Consultancy fees (78) (54)
Hotel operator fee and sales commission (75) (51)
Security expenses (47) (46)
IT costs (42) (65)
Hotels food and beverage expenses (32) (23)
Supplies (31) (15)
Insurance premiums (23) (21)
Property taxes (22) (19)
Leisure and entertainment units’ cost of operations (19) (15)
Travel expenses (13) (4)
Service charges and other recharges b (75) (31)
Amortization charge for intangible assets (11) (12)
Miscellaneous expenses (108) (94)

(3,490) (2,126)
a) Cost of revenue from property sales and sales commission from TAG Phase A LLC amounting to AED 1,330 million

(2021: AED 374 million) and AED 84 million (2021: AED 25 million), respectively, were recognized based on POC.
b) During the year, employee benefits and service charges include recharges fromMajid Al Futtaim Global Solutions LLC

amounting to AED 92 million (2021: AED 33 million) (note 31.1).
c) Staff costs are net of costs capitalized to various projects amounting to AED 121 million (2021: AED 99 million).
d) During the year, the Group incurred AED 5 million (2021: AED 8 million) for corporate social responsibility activities.

13. Finance costs

Accounting Policy

Finance costs comprise of interest expense, arrangement fees, participation fees and similar charges on loans and
borrowings; and unwinding of discount adjustments. Interest expense is recognized using the effective interest method.
The ‘effective interest rate’ is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash payments or receipts through the
expected life of the financial instrument to the gross carrying amount of the financial asset or the amortized cost of the
financial liability. In calculating interest expense, the effective interest rate is applied to amortized cost of the liability.

(AED in millions)
2022 2021

Interest expense (including arrangement and participation fees) (433) (437)
Interest expense on lease liabilities (13) (13)
Discounting of a long-term receivable - (11)
Unwinding of discounting of a long-term receivable 4 3
Less: Amounts capitalized with the cost of qualifying assets a - 82

(442) (376)
a) Capitalized interest arises on borrowings for development expenditure. During the year, there was no borrowing cost

capitalized. In 2021, the capitalization rate range used to determine the amount of borrowing cost eligible for
capitalization was 2.95% - 3.97% depending on the effective interest rate over the tenure of the borrowings for
individual developments.
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14. Impairment loss

Accounting Policy

Impairment of financial assets

The Group measures loss allowances for its financial
assets measured at amortized cost at an amount equal
to lifetime expected credit losses (ECLs). Lifetime ECLs
are the ECLs that result from all possible default events
over the expected life of a financial instrument.

At each reporting date, the Group assesses whether
financial assets carried at amortized cost are
credit impaired. A financial asset is ‘credit impaired’
when one or more events that have a detrimental impact
on the estimated future cash flows of the financial asset
have occurred.

Evidence that a financial asset is credit impaired includes
the following observable data:

significant financial difficulty of the borrower or
debtor;
a breach of contract (such as a default);
the restructuring of a loan or advance by the Group
on terms that the Group would not consider
otherwise;
it is probable that the borrower or debtor will enter
bankruptcy or other financial reorganization.

Loss allowances for financial assets measured at
amortized cost are deducted from the gross carrying
amount of the assets.

Impairment losses related to trade and other
receivables, including contract assets, is presented
separately in the consolidated statement of profit or loss
and OCI.

Assets that are individually significant are tested
individually whereas others are grouped together with
financial assets of similar credit risk characteristics and
assessed collectively. Impairment loss is reversed if the
reversal can be objectively related to an event that has
occurred after the impairment loss was recognized. For
financial assets that are measured at amortized cost, the
reversal is recognized in profit or loss account.

Impairment of non-financial assets

To determine any indication of impairment, the carrying
amount of all non-financial assets except for inventories
and property, plant and equipment and investment
property that are fair valued are reviewed at each
reporting date. If any such indication exists, the
recoverable amount of the asset is estimated.

For purposes of impairment reviews, assets that
generate cash inflows from continuing use that are
largely independent of the cash inflows of other assets
are identified as cash generating units (CGUs).
Impairment loss is recognized if the carrying amount of
the non-financial asset or CGUs exceeds its recoverable
amount.

For assets that have an indefinite life or are not yet
available for use, the recoverable amount is assessed at
each reporting date. The recoverable amount is the
greater of its fair value less costs to sell and value in use.
Value in use is based on the estimated future cash flows,
discounted to their present value using a pre-tax
discount rate that reflects current market assessments of
the time value of money and the risks specific to the
assets or CGU. Value in use is assessed by using the
discounted future cash flow or the income capitalization
methods.
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(AED in millions)
2022 2021

Impairment of investment property under construction (note 14.1) a (17) (122)
Impairment of property and equipment (note 17.2) (2) (2)
Reversal of impairment of investments in equity accounted investees (note 9.1.2) 5 -
Impairment loss on non-financial assets (14) (124)
Impairment loss on trade and other receivables – net (16) (16)
Impairment loss on other receivables b - (18)
Impairment loss on financial assets (16) (34)

a) During the year, additional impairment loss of AED 17 million is recognized for the investment property under
construction. The impairment loss is net of AED 2million impairment reversal due to recovery of a previously impaired
non-refundable tax capitalized.

b) In 2021, management impaired and wrote-off its receivable from a third-party hotel operator after reaching an
agreement to amicably partially settle the receivable of AED 38 million at a discount of AED 18 million.

14.1 Key judgements and sensitivities

a) During the year, a total impairment loss of AED 19 million (2021: AED 122 million) was recognized for the pre-
development cost of a shopping mall and related infrastructure under development. Management assessed that
these impaired costs represented works carried out in prior years that were superseded or no longer relevant to the
current development. The recoverable amounts of the impaired investment property under construction as at the
reporting date and the impairment loss recognized are set out below:

(AED in millions)
2022 2021

Asset 1 Asset 1
Recoverable amount 425 129
Impairment loss - net (note 14) (19) (122)

15. Other (expense)/income - net
(AED in millions)

2022 2021
Project costs written-off (2) (5)
Development expenses (29) (39)
Foreign exchange loss – net a (285) (1)
Other expense (316) (45)
IT and other service charges levied on related parties (note 31.1) - 1
Other b 26 98
Other income 26 99
Other (expense)/income – net (290) 54

a) During the year, foreign exchange loss is primarily driven by translation of a USD denominated loan to EGP, which is
held by a subsidiary in Egypt.

b) In 2021, other income includes AED 54million in respect of a gain from divestment in a subsidiary that was previously
fully impaired.

16. Net valuation gain on land and buildings
(AED in millions)

2022 2021
Gain on changes in fair value on property, plant and equipment (note 17.2 (a)) 15 113
Gain on changes in fair value of investment property (note 18.2) 1,187 926

1,202 1,039
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17. Property, plant and equipment

Accounting policy

Recognition and measurement

Land and buildings mainly comprising hotels and offices
held for use in the production or supply of goods or
services, or for administrative purposes, are stated at
their revalued amounts, being the fair value at the date
of revaluation, less any subsequent accumulated
depreciation and subsequent impairment losses.
Revaluations are performed with sufficient regularity
such that the carrying amounts do not differ materially
from those that would be determined using fair values
at the end of each reporting period. Any accumulated
depreciation at the date of revaluation is eliminated
against the gross carrying amount of the asset and the
net amount is restated to the revalued amount.

Land on which development work has started with the
intention of constructing property, plant and equipment is
fair valued at the date when significant development
commences. During the construction period, land and
development expenditure is carried at cost less any
accumulated impairment until the fair value of the asset
can be reliably determined. Once the fair value can be
reliably determined, the entire property (that is land and
building) is carried at fair value at each reporting date.

All other items of property, plant and equipment are stated
at cost less accumulated depreciation and accumulated
impairment losses.

If significant parts of an item of property, plant and
equipment have different useful lives, then they are
accounted for as separate items (major components) of
property, plant and equipment.

Any subsequent expenditure is capitalized only if it is
probable that the future economic benefits associatedwith
the expenditure will flow to the Group.

Depreciation

Depreciation is calculated to write off the cost of items of
property, plant and equipment less their estimated
residual values using the straight-line method over the
estimated useful lives, and is recognized in profit or loss.
Land is not depreciated. The estimated useful lives of
assets for the current and comparative years are as follows:

Category of assets
Estimated
useful life

Buildings 5 - 50 years
Motor vehicles 4 years
Furniture, fixtures and equipment 3 - 4 years
Leisure rides and games 3 - 10 years

Depreciation methods, useful lives and residual values are
reviewed at each reporting date and adjusted if
appropriate.

Revaluation reserve

Any revaluation increase arising on the revaluation of such
land and buildings is recognized in OCI and accumulated in
equity, except to the extent that it reverses a revaluation
decrease for the same property previously recognized in
profit or loss, in which case the increase is credited to profit
or loss to the extent of the decrease previously accounted
for. A decrease in the carrying amount arising on the
revaluation of such land and buildings is recognized in any,
profit or loss to the extent that it exceeds the balance, if
held in the revaluation reserve relating to a previous
valuation of that property.
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Reclassification to investment property

When the use of a property changes from owner-
occupied to investment property, the property is re-
measured to fair value and reclassified accordingly. Any
difference between the carrying amount of the property
and its fair value is recognized as a revaluation of
property, plant and equipment in accordance with the
revaluation principles discussed above.

De-recognition

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognized
upon disposal or when no future economic benefits are
expected from its continued use. Any gain or loss on de-
recognition is determined as the difference between the
sales proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset and
is recognized in profit or loss. On de-recognition of a
revalued property, the attributable revaluation surplus
related to the property is transferred directly from
revaluation surplus to retained earnings.

17.1 Critical judgement

17.1.1 The critical judgement related to the accounting
for dual use property (property, plant and equipment and
investment property) is discussed in note 18.1.

17.1.2 Apportionment of fair values between land and
buildings

(i) Where the fair value of a property comprises the
aggregate value of land and buildings, the fair value is
apportioned between land and buildings based on
the reinstatement cost of the building as computed
by an external consultant, unless another appropriate
basis is available for allocation.

(ii) Change in fair value apportioned to buildings is then
allocated to the building structure as it is
impracticable to obtain detailed fair value
information at each component level of the building
from the external consultant or to use any other
reasonable method of approximation to internally
estimate such component values. Consequently, any
increase in fair values is allocated to the structure of
the building and depreciated over the remaining
useful lives of the respective structure of the
buildings.

17.2 Reconciliation of the net carrying amount at the reporting date
(AED in millions)

Land &
Buildings

Motor
vehicles

Furniture,
fixtures &
equipment

Leisure
rides &
games

Capital work
in progress Total

Cost/revaluation
At 1 January 2021 3,163 10 1,345 160 227 4,905
Additions 4 1 31 - 107 143
Disposals/write offs/other adjustments - - (12) - (20) (32)
Capitalized - - 66 1 (67) -
Accumulated depreciation & impairment
eliminated on revaluation (190) - - - - (190)

Transferred from investment property - - 77 - - 77
Net revaluation gain a 281 - - - - 281
Additions due to beneficial ownership transfer
of a related party (note 35) 6 - 6 - - 12

Effect of changes in foreign currency
translation (2) - (4) - (1) (7)

At 31 December 2021 3,262 11 1,509 161 246 5,189
At 1 January 2022 3,262 11 1,509 161 246 5,189
Additions 14 1 97 - 120 232
Disposals/write offs/other adjustments - (1) (9) - (10) (20)
Capitalized - - 48 - (48) -
Accumulated depreciation & impairment
eliminated on revaluation (161) - - - - (161)

Transferred from investment property - - 109 - - 109
Transferred from development property - - - - 1 1
Net revaluation gain a 150 - - - - 150
Effect of changes in foreign currency
translation 15 (1) (70) - (1) (57)
At 31 December 2022 3,280 10 1,684 161 308 5,443
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(AED in millions)

Land &
buildings

Motor
vehicles

Furniture,
fixtures &
equipment

Leisure
rides &
games

Capital work
in progress Total

Accumulated depreciation/impairment
At 1 January 2021 - (7) (1,107) (154) (11) (1,279)
Depreciation charge for the year (190) (1) (134) (3) - (328)
Accumulated depreciation & impairment
eliminated on revaluation 190 - - - - 190
Impairment charge - - - - (2) (2)
Disposals/write offs/other adjustments - 1 11 - 9 21
Additions due to beneficial ownership
transfer of a related party (refer note 35) - - (4) - - (4)
Effect of changes in foreign currency
translation - - 4 - 1 5
At 31 December 2021 - (7) (1,230) (157) (3) (1,397)

At 1 January 2022 - (7) (1,230) (157) (3) (1,397)
Depreciation charge for the year (161) (1) (126) - - (288)
Accumulated depreciation & impairment
eliminated on revaluation 161 - - - - 161

Impairment charge - - - - (2) (2)
Disposals/write offs/other adjustments - 1 9 - - 10
Effect of changes in foreign currency
translation - 1 62 - - 63

At 31 December 2022 - (6) (1,285) (157) (5) (1,453)

Carrying amount
At 31 December 2022 3,280 4 399 4 303 3,990
At 31 December 2021 3,262 4 279 4 243 3,792

a) The Group’s land and buildings of AED 3.3 billion (2021: AED 3.2 billion) were valued by independent external valuers.
During the year, a net revaluation gain of AED 150 million (2021: AED 281 million) has been recognized. This comprises of
a revaluation gain of AED 135million (2021: AED 168million) recognized in other comprehensive income and a revaluation
gain of AED 15 million (2021: AED 113 million) recognized in profit or loss (see note 16).

17.3 Other notes

i) The fair value measurement for land & buildings of AED 3.3 billion (2021: AED 3.2 billion) has been categorized as a
level 3 fair value based on the inputs to the valuation technique used.

ii) Measurement of fair value
Particulars Hotels Offices
Significant unobservable
inputs used

Discount rate
2022: 9.5% to 11.25% (2021: 9.75% to 11.25%)

Compounded annual growth rates of EBITDA
2022: 5.45% (2021: 12.25%)

Equivalent yield
2022: 9.25% (2021: 9.25%)

The estimated fair value would increase/(decrease) if the discount rates and equivalent yield were lower/(higher) and/or
the growth rates were higher/(lower).

a) For the hotel portfolio, the key drivers to the valuation are the discount rates applied and forecasted EBITDA
generated from each asset’s operations. During the year, the overall valuation of the Group’s hotel portfolio resulted
in a net valuation gain of AED 116 million (2021: AED 270 million), which is a combination of net valuation loss
assessed by independent external valuer and fully offset by valuation gain mainly arising from reinstatement of
depreciated carrying value to the fair value. The independent external valuers generally assessed that there will be
lower future growth projections and reduced 10 year CAGR, which has the effect of reducing values of the hotels’
operations.
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iii) Net carrying amount of the land & buildings, had they been measured under the historical cost basis, would have been
as follows:

(AED in millions)
2022 2021

Land Buildings Land Buildings
Cost 354 4,624 354 4,607
Accumulated depreciation - (3,153) - (3,006)
At 31 December 354 1,471 354 1,601

18. Investment property

Accounting Policy

Recognition and measurement

Investment property pertains to properties held to earn
rental income and/or for capital appreciation (including
property under construction for such purposes).
Investment property is initially measured at cost and
subsequently at fair value with any change therein
recognized in profit or loss. In case of property under
construction, where the fair value is not reliably
measurable, it is measured at cost less any impairment
until either its fair value becomes reliably measurable or
construction is substantially completed (whichever is
earlier).

Reclassification to property plant and equipment

When the use of a property changes from investment
property to owner-occupied, it is reclassified as
property, plant and equipment and its fair value at the
date of reclassification becomes its deemed cost for
subsequent accounting.

De-recognition

An investment property is derecognized on disposal or
when it is permanently withdrawn from use and no
future economic benefits are expected from its disposal.
Any gain or loss on disposal or retirement calculated as
the difference between the net proceeds and the
carrying amount of the property is recognized in profit
or loss. When investment property that was previously

classified as property, plant and equipment is sold, any
related amount included in the revaluation reserve (note
17) is transferred to retained earnings.

18.1 Critical judgements

Accounting for dual use property

Certain properties of the Group include a portion
that is held to generate rental income or capital
appreciation and another portion that is held for
own use by the Group in the supply of services or for
administrative purposes. Such properties are called
‘dual use properties’.

Dual use properties where portions can be sold or
finance-leased separately will be split between
property, plant and equipment and investment
property based on the leasable value of each portion.

For dual use properties where portions cannot be sold
or finance-leased separately, estimates will be made
to assess the level of own use of the property using
leasable value of the self-occupied and let out
portions. If the level of own use of a property, as
determined by leasable value, is insignificant, the
property is classified as investment property;
otherwise, it is classified as property, plant and
equipment.

18.2 Reconciliation of the net carrying amount at the reporting date
(AED in millions)

2022 2021
At 1 January 37,263 35,785
Net fair value change (note 16) 1,187 926
Additions 901 840
Transfer from a related party (notes 31.1 & 31.2(d)) 84 -
Additions due to acquisition of a related party (note 35.2) 12 -
Effect of movements in exchange rates (493) (79)
Transferred to development property (240) -
Transferred to property, plant & equipment (note 17.2) (109) (77)
Impairment charge (note 14) (17) (122)
Disposals/write offs/other adjustments (5) (10)
At 31 December 38,583 37,263
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i. The Group’s investment property amounting to AED 36.6 billion (2021: AED 35.7 billion) were valued by independent
external valuers. The independent external valuers adopted consistent valuations methodology with the previous
cycles.

During the year, the overall valuation of the Group’s shopping malls portfolio recorded a net fair value gain amounting
to AED 1,187 million compared to 31 December 2021 valuation. This is primarily driven by the following:

Continued strong tenant sales at portfolio level, which has a positive impact on estimated rental values and lease
renewal expectations, and increase in net operating income at portfolio level as compared to 31 December 2021.
Egyptian assets recorded a 4% increase to value in EGP against 31 December 2021 valuation. The values remain
relatively flat as growth expectations are tempered back in view of the macro-economic challenges that are
expected to worsen.
The fair valuation gain is partially offset by an increase in costs to complete by AED 380 million in a certain
shopping mall in the UAE due to a planned refurbishment works for a unique leisure offering (ULO) within the mall.
The CTC captures management’s best estimate of the cost of the planned refurbishment works and, hence,
considered as a reduction in the fair value of the shopping mall.

In the prior year, the 31 December 2021 valuation gain is primarily driven by the following:
Strong and robust tenant sales which at portfolio level were ahead of 2020 and 2019 levels
Growth to estimated rental values as a result of the strong tenant performance
Continual and steady ramp up of the two super regional shopping malls that opened in 2021.

During the year, investment properties in Lebanon that are fair valued in USD have been translated in the Group’s
consolidated financial statements at the spot exchange rate of AED 3.673/USD at 31 December 2022. This resulted in
currency translation gain of AED 944 million adjusted through equity. Management has reassessed its position and
believes that it is more appropriate to reinstate value of assets in USD as supported by the independent external
valuer’s assessment and current market trend where the real estate transactions in Lebanon are now widely
denominated in USD. At 31 December 2021, the Group translated these investment properties in Lebanon at LBP
1,507.5:USD and, ultimately at LBP 6,806:USD which was the locally prevalent conversion rate, in the absence of
credible evidence for the use of USD for the real estate transactions. The valuation of a shopping mall in Lebanon at
present is particularly judgmental given the current geopolitical environment in the country.Management has adopted
the valuation for its operating asset as determined by the external valuer, which is consistent with the Group’s
accounting policy and approach taken in the past. There is a possibility that if there is any further deterioration in the
current economic condition, its carrying value may not be fully realized. A 30% decrease in the fair value would amount
to a reduction of AED 93 million.

The currency translation gain arising from translation of the Lebanon investment properties was fully offset by
AED 1.4 billion currency translation loss recorded for the investment property in Egypt due to devaluation of the
Egyptian Pound (note 29.4).

ii. Measurement of fair value

a) Fair value hierarchy
The fair value measurement for investment property of AED 38.6 billion (2021: AED 37.3 billion) has been
categorized as a level 3 fair value based on the inputs to the valuation technique used.

b) Inter-relationship between key unobservable inputs and fair value measurement
Particulars Shopping malls Offices
Significant
unobservable
inputs used

Discount rates on income streams
2022: 7% to 25% (2021: 7% to 25%)

Compounded annual growth rates of Net
operating income (“NOI”)
2022: 2.16% (2021: 2.67%)

Equivalent yield
2022: 8.00% to 9.05% (2021: 8.00% to
9.05%)

The estimated fair value would increase/(decrease) if the discount rates and yield rates were lower/(higher) and/or
the growth rates were higher/(lower).

iii. The carrying value as at the reporting date includes an operational shopping mall on leasehold land (right-of-use asset)
in UAE amounting to AED 11 million (2021: AED 29 million) and operational shopping malls on leasehold lands (right-
of-use assets) in Oman amounting to AED 1,385 million (2021: AED 860 million).

iv. All leasehold interests meet the definition of an investment property and, accordingly, the Group has accounted for the
right-of-use assets as part of investment property as allowed under IFRS 16. The lands are restricted to be used for
commercial purposes in relation to the Group’s businesses and the right to renew the lease is reserved with the
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Governments of Oman and UAE, respectively. If the respective leases are not renewed the land and buildings will be
transferred to the Governments of Oman and UAE respectively at the end of the lease term.

v. Details of the right-of-use assets included as part of investment property is as follows:
a) In 2014, a subsidiary of the Company has entered into a usufruct contract with the Government of Sultanate of

Oman, which provided the subsidiary usufruct rights over plots of land in Oman for a period of fifty years. The
subsidiary has completed the construction of a shopping mall on this land in the prior year.

b) In 2016, a subsidiary of the Company, entered into an agreement with a related party, Majid Al Futtaim
Hypermarkets LLC, to transfer the rights over a leasehold land and the property constructed on the land (a shopping
mall) to the subsidiary of the Company. The land on which the shopping mall was constructed has been obtained
on a long term lease from the Government of Dubai for a range of 8 to 25 years for different parts of the land.

c) In 2017, a subsidiary of the Company entered into a usufruct contract with the Government of Sultanate of Oman,
which provided the subsidiary usufruct rights over a plot of land in Oman for a period of fifty years.

18.3 Other notes

i. Amounts recognized in profit or loss for investment property that generated income:
(AED in millions)

2022 2021
Revenue from investment property 3,445 3,241
Direct operating expenses on properties that generated rental income (1,208) (1,019)

ii. Accrued lease income at the reporting date, relating to the accounting for operating lease rentals on a straight line
basis as per IFRS 16, advances to contractors, finance lease liability, project related trade payables & accruals and
retention from contractor payments have been adjusted from the valuation of developed properties, in order to avoid
double counting of assets and liabilities, as mentioned below:

(AED in millions)
2022 2021

Fair value of land and buildings 38,666 37,210
Less: Adjustment for accrued operating lease income (note 20) (386) (476)
Less: Advances to contractors (2) (1)
Add: Lease liabilities 132 140
Add: Retention from contractor payments 35 99
Add: Project related trade payables and accruals 138 291
Net adjusted fair value 38,583 37,263

iii. Restrictions on investment property
Two plots of land in Oman, measuring 12 thousand sqm. with carrying amount of AED 13million (2021: AED 13million)
are held by the estate of the late majority shareholder of the Parent Company. These plots were held for the beneficial
interest of the Group before the majority shareholder’s passing in December 2021. The estate is currently under
procedures of estate inventory and the Group has not received cancellation of the beneficial ownership arrangement
for these plots as at the reporting date.

iv. The Group’s investment property includes plots of land that are currently held for undetermined future use amounting
to AED 2,312 million (2021: AED 1,735 million).

19. Intangible assets

Accounting Policy

Recognition and measurement

Intangible assets that are acquired by the Group and have
finite useful lives are measured at cost less accumulated
amortization and any accumulated impairment losses.

Amortization

Amortization is calculated to write off the cost of
intangible assets less their residual value. This is done
using the straight-line method over their estimated
useful life and is generally recognized in the profit or loss
account. Goodwill is not amortized. Amortization
methods, residual and useful lives are reviewed at each
reporting date and adjusted if needed.

(AED in millions)
Metro naming rights 2022 2021
At 1 January 106 9
Additions - 109
Amortization charge for the year (11) (12)
At 31 December 95 106
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In 2021, the Group entered into an agreement with a Government entity in the UAE to renew its naming rights for two
stations of the Dubai Metro for a period of 10 years. Based on the present value of the future payments to be made,
intangible assets have been recorded, which are amortized over the contract period using the incremental borrowing cost
of the Group at 1.89% per annum, and a corresponding deferred liability was recorded (notes 24 and 27).

20. Trade and other receivables

Accounting Policy

Trade receivables and unbilled receivables

Trade and unbilled receivables are recognized and measured at the initial invoice amount, less loss allowances. They are
maintained as assets on the balance sheet so long as all risks and rewards associated with them have not been
transferred to a third party.

Loss allowances
Receivables of
shopping malls’
and hotels’
businesses

The Group has established a loss allowance matrix applying expected recovery rates on forward looking
default rates to derive the loss rate to be applied to past due receivables. The expected recovery rates are
applied to different classes of receivables based on their risk classification. Forward looking default rates
are calculated by adjusting historical credit loss rates with forward-looking information (i.e. relevant
macro-economic indicators).

Loss allowance is also created for receivables that are classified as good but which become doubtful/bad
as a result of certain business circumstances such as customer going into liquidation or bankruptcy,
litigation, financial difficulties, etc. Such specific incidents are determined on a case-to-case basis.

The calculated provision amounts based on specific cases will be recognized after netting off the bank
guarantees in hand or the security deposits received, provided the Company has the legal right to liquidate
such bank guarantees or adjust such deposits against the outstanding receivables.

Receivables of
communities’
business

Loss allowance is created when any uncertainty arises regarding collectability of receivables, including
unbilled receivables. A payment schedule is defined for each customer which is based on construction
milestones for the property unit.

In the case of receivables where possession of property is already handed over to the customer, loss
allowance is created at an accelerated rate or a full provision is made based on the facts and circumstances
on a case by case basis.

20.1 Trade and other receivables - current
(AED in millions)

2022 2021
Trade receivables, net of loss allowances (note 20.4) c 449 492
Prepayments a 414 274
Unbilled receivables b 307 -
Advances and deposits a 154 127
Accrued income on operating leases (note 18.3 (ii)) 82 88
Other receivables 57 26
At 31 December 1,463 1,007

a) The increase in the advances and prepayments is mainly related to launch of new phases under TAG Phase A LLC.
b) Unbilled receivables pertain to revenue recognized from TAG Phase A LLC property sales but not billed as at the

reporting date.
c) Trade receivables includes tenant accounts with credit balances of AED 32 million as at 31 December 2022 (2021:

AED 121 million) mainly due to the impact of rent relief awarded to these eligible tenants.

20.2 Long term receivables
(AED in millions)

2022 2021
Accrued income on operating leases (note 18.3 (ii)) 304 388
Long term prepayments 302 276
Advances to contractors 263 107
Unbilled receivables (note 20.1(b)) 194 -
Long term receivable from a related party (note 31.2) - 30
Other long term receivable - net 4 7
At 31 December 1,067 808



Majid Al Futtaim Properties LLC and its subsidiaries
Consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2022 44

20.3 Loss allowances
(AED in millions)

2022 2021
At 1 January (113) (207)
Charge for the year (note 14) (16) (16)
Write-offs 25 110
At 31 December (104) (113)

a) The Group assessed the loss allowance of its trade receivables based on specific provisioning (for specific high risk
accounts) and expected credit loss ("ECL") model in line with requirements of IFRS 9 Financial Instruments. The Group
has written-off AED 25 million (2021: AED 110 million) pertaining to trade receivables fully provided for in prior years
and recognized impairment loss on trade receivables amounting to AED 16 million (2021: AED 16 million).

20.4 Ageing of trade receivables
(AED in millions)

2022 2021
Current balances 244 227
Past due 31 - 60 days 54 72
Past due 61 - 90 days 38 29
Past due 91 - 180 days 54 85
Past due over 180 days 163 192
Total trade receivables 553 605
Less: Loss allowances (104) (113)
Net trade receivables 449 492

21. Income tax

Accounting Policy

Income tax expense comprises current and deferred tax
and is calculated in accordance with the income tax laws
applicable to certain overseas subsidiaries. It is
recognized in profit or loss except to the extent that it
relates to items recognized directly in OCI.

Current tax

Current tax comprises the expected tax payable or
receivable on the taxable income or loss for the year and
any adjustment to tax payable or receivable in respect
of previous years. It is measured using tax rates enacted
or substantively enacted at the reporting date. Current
tax also includes any tax arising from dividends.

Deferred tax

Deferred tax is recognized in respect of temporary
differences between the carrying amounts of assets and
liabilities for financial reporting purposes and the
amounts used for taxation purposes. Deferred tax is not
recognized for:

Temporary differences on the initial recognition of
assets or liabilities in a transaction that is not a
business combination and that affects neither
accounting nor taxable profit or loss;
Temporary differences related to investments in
subsidiaries, associates and joint arrangements to

the extent that the Group is able to control the
timing of the reversal of the temporary differences
and it is probable that they will not reverse in the
foreseeable future; and
Taxable temporary differences arising on the initial
recognition of goodwill.

Deferred tax is measured at the tax rates that are
expected to be applied to the temporary differences
when they reverse, based on the laws that have been
enacted or substantively enacted at the reporting date
(refer to note 21.5). Deferred tax assets and liabilities
are offset if there is a legally enforceable right to offset
current tax liabilities and assets, and they relate to
income taxes levied by the same tax authority on the
same taxable entity, or on different taxable entities, but
they intend to settle current tax liabilities and assets on
a net basis or their tax assets and liabilities will be
realized simultaneously.

A deferred tax asset is recognized for unused tax losses,
unused tax credits and deductible temporary
differences, to the extent it is probable that future tax
profits will be available against which the temporary
difference can be utilized. Deferred tax assets are
reviewed at each reporting date and are reduced to the
extent that it is no longer probable that the related tax
benefit will be realized
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21.1 Income tax expense recognized in profit or loss
(AED in millions)

2022 2021
Current tax expense:
- Current year (16) (3)
- Adjustment for prior years (25) (1)

(41) (4)
Deferred tax expense:
- Origination and reversal of temporary differences (46) (84)

(87) (88)

The Group is subject to income tax in respect of its operations in Oman, Egypt and Lebanon. Management believes that
accruals for tax liabilities are adequate for all open tax years based on its assessment of all relevant factors, including
interpretations of tax laws and prior experience.

21.2 Reconciliation of effective tax rate
(AED in millions)

2022 2021
Profit before tax from continuing operations 3,213 2,936
Effect of tax rates in foreign jurisdictions 0% (16) 0% (3)
Change in recognized deductible temporary differences -1% (46) -3% (84)
Change in estimates related to prior years -1% (25) 0% (1)

-3% (87) -3% (88)

21.3 Deferred tax liabilities
(AED in millions)

01 January
2022

Recognized in
profit or loss

Recognized
in OCI

Exchange rate
movement

31 December
2022

Investment property and others 351 36 - (113) 274

(AED in millions)
01 January

2021
Recognized in
profit or loss

Recognized
in OCI

Exchange rate
movement

31 December
2021

Investment property and others 224 127 - - 351

A portion of the deferred tax liability has been computed on the taxable temporary differences arising as a result of
valuation gains on properties in Oman and Egypt. The tax rates in these countries are 15% and 22.5%, respectively (2021:
15% and 22.5%, respectively). The corresponding valuation gain or loss has been recognized in profit or loss. Accordingly,
the resulting net deferred tax expense/(credit) has been recognized in profit or loss

21.4 Deferred tax assets
(AED in millions)

01 January
2022

Recognized in
profit or loss

Recognized
in OCI

Exchange rate
movement

31 December
2022

Investment property and others 91 (10) - (14) 67

(AED in millions)
01 January

2021
Recognized in
profit or loss

Recognized
in OCI

Exchange rate
movement

31 December
2021

Investment property and others 51 43 - (3) 91

21.4 Deferred tax assets
During the year, the Group has unrecognized deferred tax assets of AED 207 million (2021: AED 318 million) relating to its
subsidiaries in Oman, Egypt and Lebanon. Based on the Group’s strategic plan and taking into account the local taxation
laws and regulation in those countries, the recognition of deferred tax asset is limited to the extent of future taxable
profits as full recoverability of deferred tax asset is unlikely. This is due to subsidiaries in Oman, Egypt and Lebanon are
not expected to generate sufficient taxable profits and valuation gains in the foreseeable future.
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21.5 UAE Federal Decree-Law No (47) of 2022 on the Taxation of Corporations and Businesses
The Federal Decree-Law No (47) of 2022 on the Taxation of Corporations and Businesses (referred as “Corporate Tax Law”)
was issued by the United Arab Emirates (UAE) on 9th December 2022. The Corporate tax law provides the legislative basis
for the introduction and implementation of a Federal Corporate Tax (“Corporate tax”) in the UAE and is effective for the
financial years starting on or after 1 June 2023. However, there are a number of significant decisions that are yet to be
finalized by way of a Cabinet Decision that are critical for entities to determine their tax status and the amount of tax due.
Therefore, pending such important decisions by the Cabinet, the Group has determined that the Law was not practically
operational as at 31 December 2022 and, hence, not enacted or substantively enacted from the perspective of IAS 12
Income Taxes. The Group will continue to monitor the timing of the issuance of these critical Cabinet Decisions to
determine its tax status and the applicability of IAS 12 – Income Taxes. The Group is currently in the process of assessing
the possible impact on its consolidated financial statements, both from current and deferred tax perspective, once the
Law becomes substantively enacted.

Global minimum tax
In December 2021, the Organization of Economic Co-operation and Development (OECD) released a draft legislative
framework, followed by detailed guidance release in March 2022, that is expected to be used by 135 individual
jurisdictions, including the UAE, that signed the agreement to amend their local tax laws to align with global minimum
tax. Once changes to the tax laws in any jurisdiction in which the Group operates are enacted or substantively enacted,
the Group may be subject to the top-up tax. Management is monitoring the progress of the legislative process in each
jurisdiction the Group operates. At 31 December 2022, the Group did not have sufficient information to determine the
potential quantitative impact.

22. Inventories
Accounting Policy

Development property
Properties in the process of construction or development
for the purpose of sale on completion are classified as
development property. These are measured at lower of
cost and net realizable value. Net realizable value is the
estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business,
less the estimated costs of completion and selling
expenses.

Cost of development property is determined on the basis
of the cost of land plus construction costs incurred and
includes borrowing and staff costs capitalized.

The cost of development property recognized in the
consolidated income statement on property sales is
determined with reference to the specific costs incurred
on the property sold and an allocation of any non-specific
costs based on the relative size of the property sold.

When the use of a property changes such that it is
reclassified as a development property from investment
property, its fair value at the date of reclassification
becomes its cost for subsequent accounting.

Real estate inventory
Development property are transferred to inventory
when the property is ready for handover and at cost
which becomes its deemed cost for subsequent
accounting. Subsequent to initial recognition, real estate
inventories are valued at lower of cost and net realizable
value. Costs are those expenses incurred in bringing
each housing unit to its present location and condition.
Costs which can be specifically allocated to a particular
phase/area of the development are allocated to the
property units constructed in that phase/area based on
the GFA (Gross Floor Area) of each unit. Other common

costs unrelated to a particular phase/area are recorded
in a separate account as incurred and allocated to the
revenue generating units. The Company allocates such
costs on the basis of factors relevant to the units
constructed.

Spares and consumables
Inventories are measured at the lower of cost and net
realizable value. The cost of inventories is based on
weighted average cost principle and includes expenditure
incurred in acquiring the inventories and bringing them
to their existing location and condition. Net realizable
value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary course
of business less estimated selling expenses.

22.1 Critical judgements

Net realizable values of development property and real
estate inventory
Properties in the process of construction or development
for the purpose of sale on completion are classified as
development property. In determining whether
development property are measured at the lower of cost
and net realizable value, the management makes
judgements as to whether there is any observable data
indicating that there is a reasonablemeasurable decrease
in the estimated future selling price of the real estate
properties. Accordingly, an impairment provision is made
where there is a potential loss event or condition which,
based on previous experience, is evidence of a reduction
in the future selling price of the real estate properties.
Net realizable value is the estimated selling price in the
ordinary course of business, less the estimated costs of
completion and selling expenses. Cost of development
property is determined on the basis of the cost of land
plus construction costs incurred and includes borrowing
and staff costs capitalised.
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(AED in millions)
2022 2021

Development property a, b (note 22.2) 2,253 609
Spares and consumables 11 15
At 31 December 2,264 624

a) In the prior year, the Group has entered into an agreement with TAGDevelopment LLC, a subsidiary ofMAFC, to develop
and sell the project development over the land owned by TAG Development. The agreement stipulates that TAG
Development will be entitled to compensation equivalent to cost of land for which the control has been transferred to
the Group based on agreed certain level of POC. During the year, the cost of land transferred to the Group amounted
to AED 543 million (2021: AED 248 million) due to satisfaction of agreed POC. On 31 December 2022, the land owned
by TAG Development has been transferred to the Group consequent to consolidation of TAG Development results under
the MAFP Group (note 35.1).

b) The increase in the development property is mainly related to balances from TAG Development LLC, as a result of the
transfer of ownership (note 35.1) and the ongoing construction of TAG Phase A LLC projects.

22.2 Development property movement during the year
(AED in millions)

2022 2021
As at 1 January 609 13
Additions during the year (note 22.1(a)) 1,717 643
Additions due to ownership transfer of a related party (refer note 35.1) 912 -
Transferred from investment property a 240 -
Transfer from a related party b 8 -
Transferred to property, plant & equipment (note 17.2) (1) -
Additions due to beneficial ownership transfer of a related party (refer note 35.3) - 299
Transferred to cost of property sales (1,229) (346)
Effect of movements in exchange rates (3) -
As at 31 December 2,253 609

a) During the year, land amounting to AED 240 million, previously held as investment property, has been transferred to
development property due to plan to develop a community project as approved by the Company’s Board of Directors.

b) During the year, the Group’s joint venture transferred parcels of land amounting to AED 8million (notes 31.1 & 31.2(d)).

23. Cash and bank balances
(AED in millions)

2022 2021
Cash in hand 8 6
Call deposits and current accounts 427 330
Cash and cash equivalents 435 336
Restricted cash (note 23.1) 2,514 1,341
Cash and bank balances at 31 December 2,949 1,677

a) The Group’s call deposits and current accounts with banks and financial institutions amounted to AED 2,934 million
at 31 December 2022 (2021: AED 1,668 million). Impairment on cash and cash equivalents has been measured on a
12-month expected loss basis, reflecting the short maturities of the exposures, and is not considered material to the
Group’s consolidated financial statements. To manage the credit risk, the Group has concentrated its main activities
with counter-parties which are deemed creditworthy based on internal assessment on each counter-party’s financial
position, credit rating and track record. Individual counterparty credit risk limits and concentration of exposures are
set and actively monitored by the Group’s treasury department. The Group considers that its cash and deposits with
banks and financial institutions have low credit risk based on internal assessment which takes into consideration the
external credit ratings of the counterparties. Further, MAFH centrally manages the overall net cash position of the
Group in Lebanon such that there is an overall minimal exposure.
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23.1 Restricted cash
(AED in millions)

2022 2021
Cash in hand 7 3
Call deposits and current accounts 2,507 1,338
Restricted cash at 31 December 2,514 1,341

a) This represents the proceeds received from sale of property by TAG Phase A LLC (note 35.3), which is held in escrow
accounts in banks and restricted for use on development property expenditures. These deposits/balances are not
under lien. Cash in hand balance represents undeposited cheques received from customers as at the reporting date,
which will be subsequently deposited under the respective escrow accounts.

24. Trade and other payables

Accounting Policy

Trade payables are initially measured at fair value, then subsequently measured at amortized cost and, where the effect
is material, discounted to reflect the time value of money.

(AED in millions)
2022 2021

Trade payables 276 336
Advances from customers (note 24.1) a 1,829 1,048
Deposits from customers a 842 827
Unearned revenue 582 670
Accruals 433 379
Tenant related advances 372 302
Project related accruals a 325 296
Retention from contractor payments 113 126
Tax payable 37 18
Current portion of lease liabilities (note 32.2.2) 24 17
Current portion of deferred liability 10 22
Other 80 127
At 31 December 4,923 4,168

a) The project related accruals, advances and deposits from customers mainly pertain to balances from TAG Phase A
LLC due to the ongoing construction of several community projects that started during the prior year.

24.1 Advances from customers
(AED in millions)

2022 2021
As at 1 January 1,048 -
Additions due to beneficial ownership transfer of a related party
(refer note 35.3) - 225
Additions during the year 2,130 1,337
Recognized in the consolidated statement of profit or loss (1,347) (514)
Forfeiture/ other income recognized during the year (2) -
As at 31 December 1,829 1,048

a) Advances from customers comprise of collections received for the sale of properties which mainly comes from TAG
Phase A LLC. The revenues have not yet been recognized in the consolidated statement of profit or loss, in line with
the revenue recognition policy of the Group consistent with the IFRS.

b) The aggregate amount of the sale price allocated to the performance obligations of the Group that are
unsatisfied/partially unsatisfied as at 31 December 2022 is AED 8,453 million (2021: AED 5,908 million). The Group
estimates to recognize these unsatisfied performance obligations as revenue over a period up to 3 years.
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25. Provisions

Accounting Policy

A provision is recognized when the Group has a present
obligation (legal or constructive) as a result of a past
event, and it is probable that an outflow of economic
benefits will be required to settle the obligation and a
reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the
obligation.

Provisions are determined by discounting the expected
future cash flows at a pre-tax rate that reflects current
market assessments of the time value of money and the
risks specific to the liability. The unwinding of the
discount is recognized as finance cost.

(AED in millions)
2022 2021

Bonus provisions (short and long term) a 152 81
Other provisions b 190 85
At 31 December 342 166
- Current 296 151
- Non-current 46 15

a) Bonus provisions represent the amount payable to the employees of the Group.
b) Other provisions mainly relate to provision for infrastructure cost amounting to AED 164 million (2021: AED 64

million).

25.1 Reconciliation of provisions as at the reporting date
(AED in millions)

Bonus
provisions

Other
provisions

At 1 January 2021 - 30
Additions due to beneficial ownership transfer of a related party (refer note 35) - 37
Provisions recognized during the year 81 21
Reduction arising from payments/write backs/reclassifications made during the year - (1)
Effect of changes in foreign currency translation - (2)
At 31 December 2021 81 85

At 1 January 2022 81 85
Provisions recognized during the year 155 106
Reduction arising from payments/write backs/reclassifications made during the year (83) 5
Effect of changes in foreign currency translation (1) (6)
At 31 December 2022 152 190

26. Loans and borrowings
(AED in millions)

2022 2021
Unsecured – At amortized cost
Term loans - From banks a 542 598
Sukuk certificates a 6,595 6,592
At 31 December 7,137 7,190
- Current 58 55
- Non-current 7,079 7,135

a) Carrying amount adjusted for unamortized transaction costs of AED 19 million (2021: AED 23 million).
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26.1 Term loans - From banks
(AED in millions)

2022 2021
At 1 January 601 598
Borrowed during the year - 40
Repaid during the year (55) (36)
Currency translation adjustment (2) (1)
At 31 December 544 601
Net unamortized transaction costs incurred (2) (3)

542 598
- Current 58 55
- Non-current 484 543

Details of the Group’s term loans from banks, gross of unamortized transaction costs incurred, are as follows:
(AED in millions)

Loan facility 2022 2021 Security Repayment
interval

Repayment
start date

Maturity
date

USD 173 million 544 601 Corporate guarantee by MAFH Quarterly Jun 2021 Mar 2029
At 31 December 544 601

This loan was obtained to fund the Group’s Egypt operations at interest margin of 1.35% (2021: 1.35%) over the base
lending rates.

26.2 Sukuk certificates
(AED in millions)

2022 2021
At 1 January 6,612 6,612
Borrowed during the year - -
At 31 December 6,612 6,612
Net unamortized transaction costs incurred (17) (20)

6,595 6,592
- Current - -
- Non-current 6,595 6,592

Details of the Group’s sukuk certificates, gross of unamortized transaction costs incurred, are as follows:
(AED in millions)

Loan issuance 2022 2021 Interest rate Repayment
Interval

Start date Maturity date

USD 500 million 1,837 1,837 4.50% per annum
(semi-annual basis)

Bullet
payment

Nov 2015 Nov 2025

USD 600 million c 2,204 2,204 4.638% per annum
(semi-annual basis)

Bullet
payment

May 2019 May 2029

USD 600 million c 2,204 2,204 3.9325% per annum
(semi-annual basis)

Bullet
payment

Oct 2019 Feb 2030

USD 100 million b 367 367 3.15% per annum
(semi-annual basis)

Bullet
payment

Nov 2020 Nov 2028

At 31 December 6,612 6,612
a) Arrangement (‘Murabaha’) includes transfer of ownership of certain identified assets to a special purpose vehicle (MAF

Sukuk Ltd.) formed for the issuance of bonds without transfer of control. The certificate holders have no recourse to
the assets and the profits are serviced from the returns generated from the identified assets. In 2019, the size of the
Sukuk Trust Certificate Issuance Program was increased to USD 3 billion (AED 11 billion).

b) In 2020, the Group issued additional Green Sukuk certificates raising USD 100 million (AED 367 million) for general
corporate purposes. These Sukuk certificates are not listed on stock exchanges as the issuance relates to a private
placement with a third party financial institution. The carrying value as at 31 December 2022 and 2021 is not
materially different from its fair value.

c) In 2019, the Group issued ten year Green Sukuk certificates raising USD 1.2 billion (AED 4.4 billion) to refinance existing
eligible projects in accordance with the MAF Group’s Green Finance Framework. These are listed on the stock
exchanges - NASDAQ Dubai and Euronext Dublin (refer to note 30.2 for the fair value of the sukuk certificates).
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27. Other liabilities
(AED in millions)

2022 2021
Lease liabilities 135 142
Deferred liability 79 89
At 31 December 214 231

27.1 Reconciliation of liabilities arising from financing activities
(AED in millions)

1 January
2022

Cash
Inflows

Cash
outflows

Non-cash
changes

31 December
2022

Term loan from a related party a 3,854 1,923 (2,223) 2,009 5,563
Loans and borrowings 7,190 - (55) 2 7,137
Lease liabilities 159 - (38) 38 159
Short term loan from a related party 57 - (21) - 36
At 31 December 11,260 1,923 (2,337) 2,049 12,895

a) Non-cash changes relate to AED 1,716 million additions to term loan from a related party due to transfer of ownership
of TAG Development LLC (note 35.1), coupon payment of AED 175 million and interest payable to MAFH of AED 118 million
adjusted against /converted to the ‘term loan from a related party’ are non-cash transactions.

(AED in millions)
1 January

2021
Cash

inflows
Cash

outflows
Non-cash
changes

31 December
2021

Term loan from a related party a 4,029 1,723 (2,642) 744 3,854
Loans and borrowings 7,183 40 (36) 3 7,190
Lease liabilities 178 - (23) 4 159
Short term loan from a related party 117 - (60) - 57
At 31 December 11,507 1,763 (2,761) 751 11,260

a) Non-cash changes relate to AED 440 million additions to term loan from a related party due to transfer of beneficial
ownership of TAG Phase A LLC (note 35.3), coupon payment of AED 175 million and interest payable to MAFH of
AED 129 million adjusted against /converted to the ‘term loan from a related party’ are non-cash transactions.

28. Retirement benefit obligation

Accounting Policy

Defined benefit plan

Provision for retirement benefit obligation is calculated in
accordance with the labour laws of the respective
country in which they are employed. The Group’s
retirement benefit obligation is calculated by estimating
the amount of future benefit that employees have
earned in return for their services in the current and prior
periods, and is discounted to determine the present value
of the obligation. The discount rate used is the yield at
the reporting date on premium bonds that have maturity
dates approximating the terms of the Group’s obligation.

Remeasurements of the net defined benefit liability
which comprise actuarial gains and losses are recognized
immediately in OCI.

Defined contribution plan

Under the UAE Federal Law No. (7) of 1999 for pension
and social security law, employers are required to
contribute 12.5% of the ‘contribution calculation salary’
of those employees who are UAE nationals. These
employees are also required to contribute 5% of the
‘contribution calculation salary’ to the scheme. The
Group’s contribution is recognized as an expense in profit
or loss as incurred.

(AED in millions)
2022 2021

Defined benefit plan (note 28.1) 113 108
Defined contribution plan 6 4
At 31 December 119 112
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28.1 Defined benefit plan

Reconciliation of defined benefit obligation liability at the reporting date:
(AED in millions)

2022 2021
At 1 January 108 110
Expense for the year - net 29 25
Benefits paid/reclassifications during the year (14) (27)
Re-measurement of defined benefit liability (10) -
At 31 December 113 108

28.1.1 Key assumptions and estimation uncertainties:

The principal assumptions used for the purposes of the valuation of retirement benefit obligation were as follows:

2022 2021
Discount rate 4.23% 1.84%
Future salary increase 3.5% 3%
Probability of employees staying for a full service period 50% 50%

Discount rate sensitivity analysis

During the year, the Group recorded re-measurements of the defined benefit liability amounting to AED 10 million,
presented under other comprehensive income. This is mainly driven by fluctuation in discount rate in line with overall
increase in interest rates due to impact of rising inflation during the year. A sensitivity analysis has been determined based
on the exposure to fluctuation in the discount rate used in calculation the present value of defined benefit liability at the
end of the reporting period. If the discount rate had been 100 basis points higher/(lower) and all other assumptions were
held constant, the Group’s consolidated other comprehensive income for the year ended 31 December 2022 would
increase by AED 7 million and decrease by AED 8 million, respectively.

28.2 Defined contribution plan

The amounts related to the defined contribution plan recognized in the consolidated financial statements are as follows:
(AED in millions)

2022 2021
Total expense recognized in profit or loss during the year 9 10
Contributions payable at the end of the reporting year 6 4

29. Equity

29.1 Share capital
(AED in millions)

2022 2021
Authorized, issued and fully paid:
3,500,000 shares of AED 1,000 each 3,500 3,500
At 31 December 3,500 3,500

29.2 Shareholder contribution
(AED in millions)

2022 2021
Subordinated capital loan instruments a 2,750 2,750
Contribution from MAFH b 188 188
At 31 December 2,938 2,938

a) In 2009, the Company issued subordinated capital loan instruments of AED 2,500 million in five loan instruments of
AED 500 million each. In 2010, an additional loan instrument of AED 250 million was issued by the Company. These
instruments are collectively referred to as “the hybrid instruments” and are fully subscribed to by MAFH as per the
terms of a Master Capital Loan Agreement and a separate Capital Loan Agreement for each loan, dated 5 October
2009. In 2020, the agreement with MAFH had been amended resulting in a change in coupon payment rate at a fixed
rate of 6.375% per annum payable semi-annually in arrears. The hybrid instrument does not have a final maturity
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date. The coupon is non-cumulative in nature and can be deferred indefinitely at the Company’s discretion without
constituting a default. In case of MAFH ceasing control of the Company, the prevailing coupon rate on the hybrid
instruments will be permanently increased by 5% and such coupons will become cumulative. Based on the terms of
the hybrid instruments, these are accounted for as equity instruments. The hybrid instruments were subscribed to
through a debt to equity swap transaction.

b) In 2012, the Group novated all of its rights and obligations under two bank facilities agreement, which cumulatively
amounted to USD 900 million of term loans to MAFH and has converted external facilities to related party funding.
However, the Company continues to use these facilities under an intercompany funding agreement signed withMAFH.
These derivative instruments, which were hedged by way of interest rate collar and interest rate swap, had a negative
fair value of AED 188 million at the time of novation. MAFH waived its contractual obligation of recovering the liability
from the Group and accordingly this balance was classified within shareholder contribution.

29.3 Statutory reserve

In accordance with the Articles of Association of companies in the Group and relevant local laws, 10% of the net profit for
the year of the individual companies, to which the law is applicable, is transferred to a statutory reserve. Such transfers
may be discontinued when the reserve equals the limit prescribed by the relevant laws applicable to individual entities.
This reserve can be utilized only in the manner specified under the relevant laws and is not available for distribution.

29.4 Currency translation reserve

The currency translation reserve comprises all foreign currency differences arising from translation of the consolidated
financial statements of foreign operations mainly in Egypt and Lebanon. During the year, the Group recorded foreign
currency translation loss of AED 211 million (2021: AED 165 million) and foreign currency translation loss attributable to
non-controlling interests of AED 1 million (2021: AED 1 million).

During the year, the Central Bank of Egypt allowed the Egyptian Pound (EGP) to depreciate in amove to float the currency
to a flexible exchange rate. As a result, the currency had devalued from EGP 4.28 against AED to EGP 6.74. Furthermore,
the political and economic situation in Lebanon has remain unstable during the year with the Lebanese Pound (LBP)
market exchange rate significantly diverging away from the official and the secondary exchange rates (referred to as the
“Sayrafa” rate). The market exchange rate trades at a discount of approximately 96% to the official pegged rate and 10%
to the Sayrafa rate suggesting that the peg on the official exchange rate is extremely stressed and likely to break. For the
year ended 31 December 2022, the Group reassessed the exchange rates to be applied for translating the value of its
Lebanese operations and estimated a currency devaluation from LBP 6,806 against AED to LBP 11,544, which were applied
to their respective financial position as at the reporting date. However, property assets in Lebanon that are fair valued in
USD have been translated in the Group’s consolidated financial statements at the spot exchange rate of AED 3.673/USD
at 31 December 2022. Management has reassessed its position and believes that it is more appropriate to reinstate value
of assets in USD as supported by the independent external valuer’s assessment and current market trend where the real
estate transactions in Lebanon are now widely denominated in USD. At the reporting date, the Group’s operations in
Egypt contributed a net profit of AED 47 million and net assets of AED 2 billion. The Group’s Lebanon operations
contributed a net profit of AED 283 million and net assets of AED 22 million (excluding Lebanon property assets valued in
USD amounting to AED 1.3 billion) to the Group's consolidated financial statements. A further devaluation of 25% in the
exchange rates used would result in a decline in net assets of the Group’s operations in Egypt and Lebanon (excluding
property assets valued in USD) by AED 502 million and AED 6 million, respectively.

Furthermore, the Lebanese economy was designated as hyperinflationary in 2020, consequently resulting in application
of IAS 29 to all the Group entities whose functional currency is LBP. The impact of the application of IAS 29 is not material
to the Group’s consolidated financial statements.
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30. Financial instruments

Accounting Policy

Financial assets

Classification and measurement

Initial recognition

Under IFRS 9, on initial recognition, a financial asset is
classified as measured at: amortized cost; fair value
through other comprehensive income (FVOCI) - debt
investment; FVOCI - equity investment; or fair value
through profit or loss (FVTPL). The classification of
financial assets under IFRS 9 is generally based on the
business model in which a financial asset is managed
and its contractual cash flow characteristics.

Financial asset at amortized cost

A financial asset is measured at amortized cost if it
meets both of the following conditions and is not
designated as at FVTPL:

- it is held within a business model whose objective is
to hold assets to collect contractual cash flows; and

- its contractual terms give rise on specified dates to
cash flows that are solely payments of principal and
interest on the principal amount outstanding.

Financial assets at amortized cost consist of trade and
other receivables, cash and bank balances and related
party receivables.

Financial asset at FVOCI

A debt investment is measured at FVOCI if it meets both
of the following conditions and is not designated as at
FVTPL:

- it is held within a business model whose objective is
achieved by both collecting contractual cash flows
and selling financial assets; and

- its contractual terms give rise on specified dates to
cash flows that are solely payments of principal and
interest on the principal amount outstanding.

Financial asset at FVTPL

All financial assets not classified as measured at
amortized cost or FVOCI as described above are
measured at FVTPL.

A financial asset (unless it is a trade receivable without a
significant financial component that is initially measured
at the transaction price) is initially measured at fair value
plus, for an item not at FVTPL, transaction costs that are
directly attributable to its acquisition.

Subsequent measurement

The following accounting policies apply to subsequent measurement of financial assets:
Financial assets Subsequent measurement
Financial asset at
amortized cost

These assets are subsequently measured at amortized cost using the effective interest method.
The amortized cost is reduced by impairment losses. Interest income, foreign exchange gains and
losses and impairment are recognized in profit or loss. Any gain or loss on derecognition is
recognized in profit or loss.

Equity instruments
at FVOCI

These assets are subsequently measured at fair value. Dividends are recognized as income in profit
or loss unless the dividend clearly represents a recovery of part of the cost of the investment.
Other net gains and losses are recognized in OCI and are never reclassified to profit or loss.

Financial asset at
FVTPL

These assets are subsequently measured at fair value. Net gains and losses, including any interest
or dividend income, are recognized in profit or loss.

Cash and cash equivalents:

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash and call
deposits with maturities of three months or less from
acquisition date.

De-recognition of financial assets

The financial assets are derecognized when the
contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset expire
or when they are transferred to another party without
retaining control or when substantially all risks and

rewards of the asset are transferred. Any interest in such
transferred financial assets that is created or retained is
recognized as a separate asset or liability. Any gain or
loss on derecognition is recognized in profit or loss.

Financial liabilities

Financial liabilities are classified in two categories:
amortized cost (‘AC’);
financial liabilities measured at fair value through
profit or loss (‘FVTPL’)
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The Group’s financial liabilities are measured at
amortized cost.

Recognition and measurement of financial liabilities

All financial liabilities are initially recognized at their fair
value less transaction costs (with the exception of the
transaction costs of liabilities measured at fair value
through profit or loss, which are recognized as an
expense).

Financial liabilities measured at amortized cost:
Financial liabilities primarily comprise trade payables,
accruals, retention payables, long-term loans, bank
borrowings, related party payables and other liabilities.
Financial liabilities are subsequently measured at
amortized cost using the effective interest method. Issue
costs and premiums and redemption premiums form part
of the amortized cost of financial liabilities.

De-recognition of financial liabilities

The financial liabilities are derecognized when the
contractual obligations are discharged, cancelled or

expire. On derecognition of a financial liability, the
difference between the carrying amount extinguished
and the consideration paid is recognized in profit or loss.

General

Breakdown between current and non-current

The breakdown of financial assets and liabilities between
current and non-current is determined according to their
maturity at the reporting date: less than or more than
one year.

Offset of financial assets and financial liabilities

Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net
amount presented in the statement of financial position
when, and only when, there is a legal right to offset the
amounts and there is an intention either to settle them
on a net basis or to realize the asset and settle the liability
simultaneously.

Derivatives and hedging activity

There are no derivatives and hedging activities executed
by the Group.

30.1 Details of financial assets and liabilities - Carrying amount and classification

Financial assets
(AED in millions)

At 31 December 2022
Carrying
amount

Non-
financial
assets

Financial
assets Classification

A B C=A-B
Trade and other receivables (including long term) 2,530 1,519 1,011

Amortized
cost

Cash and cash equivalents 435 - 435
Restricted cash 2,514 - 2,514
Receivables from and loans to related parties (short term
and long term balances) 137 - 137

5,616 1,519 4,097

(AED in millions)
At 31 December 2021

Carrying
amount

Non-
financial
assets

Financial
assets Classification

A B C=A-B
Trade and other receivables (including long term) 1,815 1,260 555

Amortized
cost

Cash and cash equivalents 336 - 336
Restricted cash 1,341 - 1,341
Receivables from and loans to related parties (short term
and long term balances) 192 - 192

3,684 1,260 2,424
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Financial liabilities
(AED in millions)

At 31 December 2022
Carrying
amount

Non-
financial
liabilities

Financial
liabilities Classification

A B C=A-B
Loans and borrowings 7,137 - 7,137

Amortized
cost

Term loan from a related party 5,563 - 5,563
Trade and other payables 4,923 991 3,932
Short term loan from a related party 36 - 36
Due to related parties 146 - 146
Other liabilities 214 - 214

18,019 991 17,028

(AED in millions)
At 31 December 2021

Carrying
amount

Non-
financial
liabilities

Financial
liabilities Classification

A B C=A-B
Loans and borrowings 7,190 - 7,190

Amortized
cost

Term loan from a related party 3,854 - 3,854
Trade and other payables 4,168 990 3,178
Short term loan from a related party 57 - 57
Due to related parties 388 - 388
Other liabilities 231 - 231

15,888 990 14,898

30.2 Fair value measurement and hierarchy

Management believes that the fair value of the financial assets and liabilities, except for the listed sukuk certificates, are
not materially different from their carrying amounts. The fair value of the sukuk certificates that matures in 2025, 2029
and 2030 is AED 1,813million (2021: AED 1,984 million), AED 2,149million (2021: AED 2,433million) and AED 2,052million
(2021: AED 2,350 million), respectively. These certificates are carried at level 2 of the fair value hierarchy. The fair value
measurement method used is described in note 7.

30.3 Financial risk management

The Company’s Board of Directors have the overall responsibility for the management of risk throughout its Group
companies. The Board establishes and regularly reviews the Company’s risk management strategy and policy and
procedures to ensure that they are in line with MAFH strategies and objectives. It has constituted an Audit and Risk
Management Committee within the Board of the Company which is mandated to review and challenge the risk
management process. This process of review and challenge is designed to assess and suggest improvements to the
internal risk management framework, and the soundness of framework that is in place to safeguard the interest of
shareholders.

Themain risks arising from the Group’s financial instruments are credit risk, liquidity risk andmarket risk, including foreign
currency risk and interest rate risk.

Liquidity risk, market risk (including foreign currency risk and interest rate risk) and credit risk related to financial counter
parties (banks) are managed by the centralized treasury function of MAFH on behalf of the Group.

30.3.1 Credit risk

Credit risk is defined as the unforeseen losses on assets if counterparties should default. The entities in the Group have
credit policies in place and the exposure to credit risk is monitored on an on-going basis. A majority of the Group’s income
is by way of advance receipts and is supported by a deposit equivalent to three months’ rental. Credit evaluations are
performed on all customers requiring credit over a certain amount and there is no significant concentration of credit risk.
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Cash is placed with reputable banks and the risk of default is considered remote. Under the current economic conditions,
management has assessed the recoverability of its trade receivables (net of provisions) as at the reporting date and
consider them to be recoverable. Due from related parties (net of provisions) are considered recoverable bymanagement.
Further details of credit risks on trade receivables and cash and bank balances are discussed in note 20.4 and 23,
respectively.

The carrying amounts of the financial assets exposed to credit risk are as follows:
(AED in millions)

2022 2021
Trade and other receivables (including long term receivables) 1,011 555
Restricted cash 2,507 1,338
Call deposits and current accounts 427 330
Receivables from and loans to related parties and others (short term and
long term balances) 137 192
At 31 December 4,082 2,415

In addition, the Group is exposed to credit risk in relation to various financial guarantees provided against the bank loans
of MAFH; and the hybrid perpetual notes and bonds issued by a subsidiary of MAFH (note 34).

30.3.2 Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group will not be able to meet its financial obligations as they fall due. The Group’s
approach to managing liquidity is to ensure that it will always have sufficient liquidity to meet its liabilities when they
become due without incurring unacceptable losses or risking damage to the Group’s reputation.

The following are the remaining contractual maturities of financial liabilities at the reporting date. The amounts are
presented at gross and undiscounted, and include contractual interest payment.

(AED in millions)
At 31 December 2022 Gross Carrying

amount
Contractual
cash flows

Less than
one year

Between one
and two years

Between two
and five years

More than
five years

Unsecured loans and
borrowings 7,156 7,262 90 85 2,007 5,080
Term loan from a related party 5,563 5,816 169 5,647 - -
Trade and other payables 3,932 3,944 3,944 - - -
Short term loan from a related
party 36 36 36 - - -
Due to related parties 146 146 146 - - -
Other liabilities 214 460 - 27 84 349

17,047 17,664 4,385 5,759 2,091 5,429

(AED in millions)
At 31 December 2021 Gross Carrying

amount
Contractual
cash flows

Less than
one year

Between one
and two years

Between two
and five years

More than
five years

Unsecured loans and
borrowings 7,213 9,141 349 355 2,832 5,605
Term loan from a related party 3,854 3,943 - - 3,943 -
Trade and other payables 3,178 3,190 3,190 - - -
Short term loan from a related
party 57 57 57 - - -
Due to related parties 388 388 388 - - -
Other liabilities 231 488 - 37 73 378

14,921 17,207 3,984 392 6,848 5,983

30.3.2.1 Funding and liquidity

Post the COVID-19 pandemic, the Group continues to monitor and respond to all funding and liquidity requirements. To
secure the Group’s financial health, duty of care, brand equity and business performance, management continues to
proactively monitor multiple streams of actions across the business and regions, including health and safety, business



Majid Al Futtaim Properties LLC and its subsidiaries
Consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2022 58

continuity, brand protection and financial mitigation plan. In 2022, the financial mitigation plan primarily focuses on
preserving and generating cash and aims to:

conduct on-going scenario-based risk analyses to anticipate the potential impacts on main areas: revenue, working
capital and asset values;
develop with a roadmap to mitigate the impacts through action plans for revenue, operating expenses, working
capital, dividends, and capital expenditures/ investments. Such action plans are regularly updated according to the
changing circumstances and anticipated impacts;
establish a mechanism to monitor the execution of the defined action plans and ensure progression as planned; and
review of long-term viability of the business, which includes stress testing of the outlook against principal risks.

At 31 December 2022, the Group has net current assets of AED 1.4 billion (2021: AED 1.3 billion net current liabilities)
which includes loans and borrowings maturing in the short-term of AED 94 million (2021: AED 112 million). Further, at 31
December 2022, debt maturing in the long term amounts to AED 12.6 billion (2021: AED 11 billion), wherein the earliest
repayment of a major loan falls in 2024 (‘term loan to a related party’ of AED 5.6 billion). To meet its commitments, the
Group has access to sufficient undrawn committed facilities from MAFH and banks amounting to AED 3.4 billion (31
December 2021: AED 5.2 billion) as at the reporting period. The Group's assessment of funding and liquidity shows
sufficient liquidity for the foreseeable future through its cash and available committed lines.

30.3.3Market risk

Market risk is the risk that changes in market prices, such as interest rates and foreign currency exchange rates, will
adversely affect the Group’s net income or the value of financial instruments that it holds.

Managing interest rate benchmark reform
A fundamental reform of major interest rate benchmarks is being undertaken globally, including the replacement of some
interbank offered rates (IBORs) with alternative nearly risk-free rates (referred to as 'IBOR reform'). The Group has
exposures to IBORs on its financial instruments that will be replaced or reformed as part of these market-wide initiatives.
The USD LIBOR was planned to be discontinued by the end of 2021 and the Group's main alternative reference rate for
USD LIBOR is the Secured Overnight Financing Rate (SOFR). However, in November 2020, the ICE Benchmark
Administration (IBA), the FCA-regulated and authorized administrator of LIBOR, announced that it had started to consult
on its intention to cease the publication of certain USD LIBORs after June 2023. Hence, IBOR continues to be used as a
reference rate in financial markets and for determining the appropriate interest rate of the Group’s loans and borrowings
with variable interest rate.

a) Interest rate risk

The Group’s exposure to interest rate risk relates to the borrowings described in note 26. These risks are managed at
MAFH level through use of derivatives. The following is the assessment of sensitivity to interest rate risk:

(AED in millions)
2022 2021

Fixed interest bearing instruments
- Financial liabilities (loans) (6,612) (6,612)
- Financial liabilities (lease liabilities) (159) (159)
- Financial liabilities (deferred liability) (89) (111)
At 31 December (6,860) (6,882)
Variable interest bearing instrument
- Financial liabilities (loans and borrowings)* (6,107) (4,455)
- Financial liabilities (short term loan from a related party) (36) (57)
At 31 December (6,143) (4,512)

P&L OCI P&L OCI
Sensitivity analysis on variable interest bearing instruments:
- Increase of 100bps (61) - (45) -
- Decrease of 100bps 61 - 45 -

* This primarily includes term loan from a related party amounting to AED 5,563 million (2021: AED 3,854
million).
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b) Foreign currency risk

The Group is exposed to foreign currency risk on its net investments in foreign subsidiaries and operations. Aside from
the foreign currency risk arising from the Group’s operations in Lebanon and Egypt (refer note 29.4), a significant portion
of the Group’s foreign currency borrowings and balances are denominated in USD and other currencies linked to USD. As
the Group’s functional currency is currently pegged to USD (AED 3.673/USD), any fluctuation in exchange rate is not likely
to have a significant impact on the Group’s equity and profit or loss.

30.4 Capital management

The primary objective of the Group is to ensure that optimal capital and liquidity is available to support operations and
long term growth of the businesses. The capital structure of the Group consists of debt (loans and borrowings as per note
26) and equity (comprising issued capital, shareholder contribution, revaluation reserve, retained earnings and other
reserves as per note 29).

(AED in millions)
2022 2021

Loans and borrowings (excl. finance lease liabilities) 12,736 11,101
Total debt 12,736 11,101
Share capital 3,500 3,500
Shareholder contribution 2,938 2,938
Revaluation reserve 14,095 13,960
Retained earnings 12,781 9,842
Other reserves (942) (741)
Total equity attributable to owners of the Company - At 31 December 32,372 29,499

All bank covenants are monitored at regular intervals. The most frequent agreed covenants in the loan agreements are:
net worth, debt to equity, interest coverage and debt service coverage ratios.

31. Related party transactions and balances

Balances and transactions between the Company and its subsidiaries (note 8), which are related parties of the Company,
have been eliminated on consolidation and are not disclosed in this note. Details of transactions between the Group and
other related parties are disclosed below. The Group’s related party transactions are conducted based on agreed terms.
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31.2.1 Term loan from a related party
(AED in millions)

2022 2021
At 1 January 3,854 4,029
Borrowed during the year 1,923 1,723
Additions due to ownership transfer of a related party (notes 35.1) 1,716 -
Additions due to beneficial ownership transfer of a related party (note 35.2) - 440
Interest payable to MAFH converted to long term loan 118 129
Coupon payable to MAFH adjusted against long term loan 175 175
Repaid during the year (2,223) (2,642)
At 31 December 5,563 3,854
- Current - -
- Non-current 5,563 3,854

a) The additions of AED 1,716 million (2021: AED 440 million) due to ownership transfer of a subsidiary between related
parties, coupon payment of AED 175 million (2021: AED 175 million) and interest payable to MAFH of AED 118 million
(2021: AED 129million) adjusted against /converted to the ‘term loan from a related party’ are non-cash transactions.

32. Leases

Accounting policy

The Group has applied IFRS 16 using the modified
retrospective approach and therefore the comparative
information has not been restated and continues to be
reported under IAS 17. The details of accounting policy
under IAS 17 are disclosed separately.

i. Definition of a lease
At inception of a contract, the Group assesses whether a
contract is, or contains, a lease. A contract is, or contains,
a lease if the contract conveys a right to control the use
of an identified asset for a period of time in exchange for
consideration.

ii. As a lessee
At commencement or on modification of a contract that
contains a lease component, the Group has elected, as a
practical expedient under IFRS 16, not to separate
non lease components and account for the lease and
non lease components as a single lease component for
leases of properties.

Right-of-use assets
The Group recognizes right-of-use assets at the lease
commencement date. Right-of-use asset is initially
measured at cost, which comprises initial amount of the
lease liability adjusted for any lease payments made at or
before the commencement date, plus initial direct cost
incurred, and less any lease incentives received. Right-of-
use asset is subsequently depreciated using straight-line
basis over the shorter of the lease term and estimated
useful life of the leased asset, reduced by any impairment
and adjusted for remeasurements of the lease liability. In
cases where the lease transfers ownership of the
underlying asset to the Group or the cost of the right-of-
use asset reflects that the Group will exercise a purchase
option by the end of the lease term, the right-of-use asset
will be depreciated over the estimated useful life of the
leased asset.

When a right-of-use asset meets the definition of
investment property, it is presented in investment
property and is initially measured at cost and
subsequently measured at fair value with any change
therein recognized in profit or loss. Where the fair value
is not reliably measurable, it is measured at cost less any
impairment until its fair value becomes reliably
measurable.

Lease liability
At the lease commencement date, lease liability is initially
measured at the present value of the outstanding lease
payments, discounted using the lease implicit interest
rate or, if that rate cannot be reliably determined, the
Group’s incremental borrowing rate. The lease liability is
measured at amortized cost using effective interest
method. It is remeasured when there is a modification of
lease term, change in future lease payments arising from
a change in rate, estimate of the amount expected to be
payable under a residual value guarantee, or as
appropriate, changes in the assessment of whether a
purchase or extension option is reasonably certain to be
exercised or a termination option is reasonably certain
not to be exercised by the Group.

The Group has applied judgement to determine the lease
term for some lease contracts in which it is a lessee that
include renewal options. The assessment of whether the
Group is reasonably certain to exercise such options
impact the lease term, which significantly affects the
amount of lease liabilities and right-of-use asset
recognized.

Short-term leases and leases of low-value assets

The Group has elected not to recognize right of use
assets and lease liabilities for leases of low value assets
and short term leases. Lease payments associated with
these leases are recognized as expense on a straight line
basis over the lease term.
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iii. As a lessor
When the Group acts as a lessor, it determines at lease
inception whether each lease is a finance lease or an
operating lease. To classify each lease, the Group makes
an overall assessment of whether the lease transfers
substantially all of the risks and rewards incidental to
ownership of the underlying asset. If this is the case, then
the lease is a finance lease; if not, then it is an operating
lease. As part of this assessment, the Group considers
certain indicators such as whether the lease is for the
major part of the economic life of the asset. The Group
accounts for a modification to an operating lease (for
example, a change in scope or consideration for a lease
that was not part of the original terms and conditions of
the lease) as a new lease from the effective date of the
modification, considering any prepaid or accrued lease
payments relating to the original lease as part of the lease
payments for the new lease, and amortized over the new
lease term.

At inception or on modification of a contract that
contains a lease component, the Group allocates the

consideration in the contract to each lease component on
the basis of their relative stand-alone prices. If an
arrangement contains lease and non-lease components,
then the Group applies IFRS 15 to allocate the
consideration in the contract.

32.1 Critical judgement

Determining the lease term as lessee: Whether the Group
is reasonably certain to exercise option to renew

The Group has the option to renew its leases of
residential and commercial properties for an additional
term. The Group applies judgement in evaluating
whether it is reasonably certain to exercise the option to
renew. In making this judgement, management considers
all relevant facts and circumstances that create an
economic incentive for it to exercise the option to renew.
The Group reassesses the lease term if there is a
significant event or change in circumstances that affects
its ability to exercise or not to exercise the option to
renew.

32.2 Group as lessee

The Group leases plots of land that meet the definition of investment property (note 18.2). Further, the Group leases
residential and commercial properties with lease terms for a period of 1 year or more. All operating lease contracts
contain market review clauses in the event the renewal option is exercised.

32.2.1. Right-of-use assets

Reconciliation of the net carrying amount of right-of-use assets that do not meet the definition of investment property at
the reporting date is as follows:

(AED in millions)
2022 2021

At 1 January 22 31
Depreciation charge for the year (17) (18)
Net addition during the year 25 9
At 31 December 30 22

The Group has tested its right-of-use assets for impairment the end of the reporting period and has concluded that there
is no indication that the right-of-use assets are impaired.

32.2.2 Lease liabilities
(AED in millions)

Future minimum lease
payments

Interest Present value of minimum
lease payments

2022 2021 2022 2021 2022 2021
Less than one year 36 29 12 12 24 17
Between one and two years 21 25 11 11 10 14
Between two and five years 36 39 34 34 2 5
More than five years 324 335 201 212 123 123
At 31 December 417 428 258 269 159 159
- Current (note 24) 24 17
- Non-current (note 27) 135 142

a) Interest rates underlying all lease liabilities are determined at the respective contract dates based on the incremental
borrowing rates ranging from 1.17% to 10.30% (2021: 1.17% to 10.30%) per annum.
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32.3 Group as lessor

The Group leases out its investment property with lease terms typically between 3 to 10 years. These are classified as
operating lease since they do not transfer substantially all of the risks and rewards incidental to the ownership of the
assets.

The lessee does not have an option to purchase the property at the expiry of the lease period. Furthermore, the lessee
does not have the right to assign or sublet the lease or the unit without the prior written consent of the Group.

The Group signs up leases in advance of shopping mall openings and lessees require time to fit out their stores prior to
opening. The Group has a right of recourse in the event that the lessee chooses not to open; the exercise of the Group’s
right will depend on commercial and operational factors.

The maturity analysis of undiscounted lease payments to be received after reporting date are as follows:
(AED in millions)

2022 2021
Less than one year 2,970 3,051
One to two years 2,209 2,255
Two to three years 1,505 1,566
Three to four years 923 951
Four to five years 589 568
More than five years 1,847 1,732
At 31 December 10,043 10,123

The net rental income earned by the Group from its investment property for the year is set out in note 18.3.

33. Capital commitments
(AED in millions)

2022 2021
Capital commitments of the Group 2,405 2,219
The Group's share of capital commitments in relation to its equity accounted investees 320 279
At 31 December 2,725 2,498

Capital commitments refers to the value of contracts signed for the development and construction of assets as at 31
December 2022, net of costs incurred and advances made up to that date.

34. Contingent liabilities
(AED in millions)

2022 2021
Corporate guarantees on various bank loans availed by MAFH 6,099 3,391
Co-guarantee on hybrid perpetual notes issued by a subsidiary of MAFH 3,306 3,306
Co-guarantee on bonds issued under the Global Medium Term Note (GMTN) Program
by a subsidiary of MAFH 2,938 2,938

Performance guarantee to government authorities 870 573
At 31 December 13,213 10,208

34.1 Litigation and claims

There are certain litigation and claims that arise during the normal course of business. Management reviews these on a
regular basis as and when such litigations and/or claims are received. Each case is treated according to its merit and
necessary provisions are created. Based on the opinion of the Group’s legal counsel and information presently available,
management believes there is no significant exposure that may result in a significant cash outflow for the Group.

34.2 White Land Tax Law amendments

In 2021, amendments to the executive regulations ofWhite Land Tax (WLT) Law was approved by the Council of Ministers
in KSA as a result of which land held for development projects may be subjected to WLT. Management believes that the
tax liability, even if probable, is not reliably determinable at this stage due to uncertainty in the eligibility and application
of the WLT. Accordingly, no provision has been recorded.
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35. Acquisition of subsidiaries

35.1. TAG Development LLC
At 31 December 2022, investment in TAG Development LLC is transferred from Tilal Al Ghaf LLC (a wholly owned subsidiary
of MAFC) to MAFP Development LLC (a wholly owned subsidiary of the Group). Accordingly, these consolidated financial
statements capture the results of TAG Development LLC. The following table summarizes the financial position of TAG
Development LLC transferred on 31 December 2022:

(AED in millions)
31 December

2022
Current assets
Development property 912
Due from related parties 891
Cash and bank balances 1
Total assets 1,804
Current liabilities
Trade and other payables 2
Due to related parties 86
Total liabilities 88
Net assets 1,716

The Group did not apply IFRS 3 Business Combination as the acquisition is a common control transaction at book value
defined under IFRS 3.

35.2. Waterfront City S.A.L.
At 30 September 2022, the Group acquired the remaining 50% shareholding in Waterfront City S.A.L., formerly an equity
accounted joint venture, for a net consideration of AED 1 million, thus, increasing its ownership from 50% to 100%. The
carrying value ofWaterfront City S.A.L. net assets at the date of acquisition amounted to AED 2million. Accordingly, these
financial statements consolidate the results of Waterfront City S.A.L. from the acquisition date until the reporting date.

Subsequent to the acquisition, in accordance with the prevailing market trend where the real estate transactions in
Lebanon are predominantly valued in USD, the acquired investment property has been revalued prior to the year end and
the gain from fair value and currency translation have been recognized accordingly (note 18.2(i)).

35.3. TAG Phase A LLC
From 1 January 2021, TAG Development LLC, a wholly owned subsidiary of MAFC, transferred its investment in TAG Phase
A LLC for the beneficial ownership (through MAF Emirati Communities Operation LLC) of the Group. During the year, the
legal ownership of TAG Phase A LLC has been transferred to the Company from TAG Development LLC (a wholly owned
subsidiary of MAFC) and beneficial ownership arrangement was executed by the Company in favour of MAF Emirati
Communities Operation LLC to continue to beneficially own TAG Phase A LLC until 31 December 2022.

The Group did not apply IFRS 3 Business Combination as the acquisition is a common control transaction at book value
defined under IFRS 3.

36. Seasonality and cyclicality

There is no material seasonality or cyclicality impacting these consolidated financial statements.

37. Investment in shares

The Group has invested in shares during the year as disclosed in the notes as follows:
Note 35.1 – TAG Development LLC
Note 35.2 – Waterfront City S.A.L.

38. Subsequent events

There has been no significant event subsequent to the reporting date and up to the date of authorization on
______________, which would have a material effect on the consolidated financial statements as at 31 December 2022.




